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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

ERBEXZMARAT ((BRHM]) GEMHNEE

GEMWEN RPN EAFARM—ELTHTES  WEAIHELERMETIRLETHWARAFTERSREAR - FE
RENATETHBRENZELANEERR  YELCBEEAFNEBERTFEHRERE -

HRGEMETAREERTNEAR  AGEMEENEF THEBRREIREEZESRAZIBANTERDER - B
REZREBEGEIMEENESERSREBEENTS

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors’) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HTEEREE

Weak economy and escalating geopolitical tensions made the business
environment complicated and volatile for the information system solution
industry in the People’s Republic of China (“China” or the “PRC") during
the financial year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period’) of
Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”’, which together with its
subsidiaries, is referred to as the “Group”).

It is crucial for the Group to maintain its prudent approach to business
development as it is navigating China's information technology services
market that was dampened by the United States of America (the “United
States” or “US") government’s increased technology sanctions and the
downsizing of China’s internet and technology giants.

To cope with the difficult situation, the Group had already been shifting the
focus of its business to the operation of information technology systems from
the development of such systems. The move allowed the Group to tap the
still promising segments of China’s market for information technology services
and telecommunications with lower capital expenditure and staff cost.

For instance, it started diversifying into the business of value-added services
such as short messaging services for businesses in the previous financial year
ended 31 March 2023 (the “previous financial year’) and has since been
expanding that business. During the Reporting Period, the move yielded
significant results as the short messaging services accounted for
approximately 70% of the Group’s total revenue. The diversification into short
messaging services for businesses has enabled the Group to capitalize on the
increasing demand for short messaging services from businesses generated
by the boom in e-commerce and the logistics industry in China.

The Group forged ahead with its two-pronged strategy of fostering both its
front-end and back-end information technology system businesses as part
of its ongoing business transformation and diversification which is aimed
at mitigating the impact of the difficult business environment, broadening
its income stream and fostering growth drivers.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made progress in preparing to
branch out into a front-end business of selling smartwatches for children.
The smartwatches, which would be installed with the information
technology software and system developed by the Group and bundled
with the telecommunication services of a major telecom carrier in China,
can function as a handset for both audio and visual communications,
connect to the internet through Wi-Fi and enable the parents to track the
wearers through the global positioning system (GPS). The Group would be
an agent for the distribution of the smartwatches and considered
beginning with the markets of two provinces, namely Liaoning and
Guangdong of mainland China. Distribution of the first batch of the
smartwatches for children by the Group began in mid-May 2024 in Beijing.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2024
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Executive Director’s Statement
HTEEREE

In the back-end business, the Group continued to run its businesses of
information technology software and system development for information
verification, artificial intelligence (“Al") services and solutions and robotic
process automation ("RPA"), serving disparate clients, including a securities
brokerage, a certificate authority, a full-service investment banking
enterprise, an information technology subsidiary of a transportation
infrastructure design and construction firm and a leading telecommunications
company in China.

The outlook for China's information system solution industry remains
cloudy as the country has yet to show any signs of a full economic recovery
while the United States’ technology sanctions against it are expected to
remain enforced or even increase as the China-US relations have yet to
improve.

To get through the complicated and tough business environment, the
Group will press ahead with its business transformation and diversification.
It is considering increasing investment in the business of short messaging
services in the second half of this year so as to expand that operation and
thus increase the revenue, thereby developing it into one of the Group’s
growth drivers. It also contemplates diversifying into other value-added
services such as voice messaging for marketing in the future. In addition,
the Group plans to conduct marketing campaigns for the smartwatches at
schools in the second half of this year following the distribution of its first
batch of smartwatches for children in mid-May 2024 in Beijing.

These initiatives can broaden the income stream and add impetus to the
Group's business development for the long term.

Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE S W DT

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024 (the "Reporting Period")
of the Group, the economic conditions of the People’s Republic of China
("China” or the "PRC") remained difficult while the United States of
America (the “United States” or "US”) increased sanctions against China’s
technology sector amid the geopolitical tensions. As a result, the business
environment was still complicated and tough for China’s information
system solution industry.

The internet and technology giants in China downsized amid the country’s
weak economy, thus affecting the demand for the information technology
services. Meanwhile, the China-US relations had yet to improve. The US
sanctions against China’s technology sector were still enforced and even
stepped up.

To cope with the US technology sanctions, a leading Chinese company in
information and communications technology infrastructure and smart
devices made breakthroughs by launching a smartphone capable of 5G
telecommunications and by developing its own operating system.
However, the new model of smartphone apparently triggered the US
government's curb on export of more artificial intelligence (“Al") chips to
China In October 2023, while the newly developed, home-grown operating
system had not yet gained wide acceptance in the domestic market
because of the existing agreement that handsets that can access the
mobile telecommunications services of Google have to adopt the
operating system Android, and because of the competition among the
telecommunication devices manufacturers in China. Therefore, the
development of China’s information system solution industry, which still
depends on the advanced American technology, is still impeded.

An information system solution industry player that wants to tide itself over
the hard times may try to branch out into telecommunications services
such as short messaging services and Al for which there are promising
markets.

A boom in e-commerce and the logistics industry have generated growing
demand for short messaging services from businesses in China as courier
firms need to notify recipients of the imminent delivery of orders, and
enterprises need to authenticate the identities of customers in online
transactions.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE e am M AT

The number of short messages sent through mobile phones in China grew
from about 1.507 trillion in 2019 to about 1.869 trillion in 2023 with
significant annual increases and smaller annual decreases recorded during
the five years, according to the National Bureau of Statistics of China
(Source: an article entitled 2023 F KB B EHHE R T REE R
152% B 8 12 £ 2 R L T F£0.3%" dated 4 February 2024 on the
website ERA 3 &5 48 (Insight and Info) at www.chinabaogao.com).

Meanwhile, China has been forging ahead with its plan to integrate digital
technologies with its real economy. The trend has generated demand for
Al, which is one of the driving forces behind the industries’ digital
transformation and high-quality economic development. The country’s
information system solution industry can tap the growing markets for Al
services and solutions and robotic process automation ("RPA”). Such
technologies have not only helped industries cope with the problems of
labour shortage and wage rises but also will facilitate their digitalization
and upgrading.

China's Al market has been forecast by International Data Corporation (IDQ),
a global market intelligence firm which is focused on the technology
industry, to expand at a compound annual growth rate of over 20% from
2021 to 2026, reaching US$14.75 billion in 2023 and US$26.44 billion in
2026 (Source: an article entitled "IDC: 2026 F F1 B A T &5 sE T 15 48 1R 1R
T8 51 #5 #8 264.4 18 3= JT " dated 29 March 2023 on IDC’s website at
www.idc.com). In 2022, the size of the country’s Al market was about
US$12.24 billion, according to the data of IDC (Source: an article entitled
“"According to IDC's Forecast, China's Al Market to Exceed US$26 Billion by
2026, Hardware to Make Up 56% of Market” dated 18 May 2023 on
www.idc.com).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE S W DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

To get through the complicated and volatile market conditions, the Group
had already been shifting the focus of its business to the operation of
information technology systems from the development of such systems.
For instance, it started diversifying into the business of value-added
services such as short messaging services for businesses in the previous
financial year (the “previous financial year’) and has since been taking
efforts to expand that business. During the Reporting Period, short
messaging services accounted for approximately 70% of the Group's total
revenue.

The diversification into short messaging services for businesses has enabled
the Group to capitalize on the increasing demand for short messaging
services from businesses generated by the boom in e-commerce and the
logistics industry in China.

The Group started its cooperation with an information technology
company in providing a multimedia short messaging service for businesses
on behalf of a branch of a major telecommunications carrier of China in
Guangdong province in the second half of 2022. It followed that up by
signing one more contract with that information technology company
during the first quarter of the Reporting Period to provide short messaging
services for businesses through the network of that major telecommunications
carrier.

The Group continued with its two-pronged business strategy of fostering
both the front-end and back-end businesses as part of its ongoing business
transformation and diversification which is aimed at mitigating the impact
of the difficult business environment, broadening its income stream and
fostering growth drivers.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made progress in preparing to
branch out into a front-end business of selling smartwatches for children.
The smartwatches, which would be installed with the information
technology software and system developed by the Group and would be
bundled with the telecommunication services of a major telecom carrier in
China, can function as a handset for both audio and visual communications,
connect to the internet through Wi-Fi and enable the parents to track the
wearers through the global positioning system (GPS). The Group would be
an agent for the distribution of the smartwatches and considered beginning
with the markets of two provinces, namely Liaoning and Guangdong of
mainland China. Distribution of the first batch of the smartwatches for
children by the Group began in mid-May 2024 in Beijing.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE e am M AT

In the back-end business, the Group continued to run its businesses of
information technology software and system development for information
verification, Al services and solutions and RPA, serving disparate clients,
including a securities brokerage, a certificate authority, a full-service
investment banking enterprise, an information technology subsidiary of a
transportation infrastructure design and construction firm and a leading
telecommunications company in China.

In the information verification business, the Company’s 70%-held Shenzhen
Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen CITIC
Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd.) ("Cyber Security”) had already
R "in Chinese, which is its
proprietary product for electronic identity authentication that enables

undertaken projects to apply eCitizen (or “e &

users of services to safely log in, sign digitally and have their personal data
protected in online transactions) to some banks' financial services and to
conduct information verification for other companies.

During the Reporting Period, Cyber Security continued to conduct
information verification for a securities brokerage, a certificate authority
and a mainland China-based full-service investment banking enterprise
through websites, application programming interface (“API") or terminals.
It was also fulfilling a contract to build a unified digital authentication
system, carry out application integration and operate and maintain such
system for an information technology subsidiary of a China-based
transportation infrastructure design and construction firm.

In September 2022, the Group signed a contract to sell two data encryption
devices, two server encryption devices and one authenticated encryption
device to an information technology firm and to develop software for it.
Such devices and services are involved in the information verification
conducted for the above-mentioned securities brokerage, certificate
authority and mainland China-based full-service investment banking
enterprise.

During the fourth quarter of the financial year ended 31 March 2022, Cyber
Security signed a contract to build an infrastructure for real-name system
management based on eCitizen digital identity verification technology for
a technology development company. Cyber Security would provide
5G-eCitizen SIM cards, develop applications customized for certain
occasions, and provide technical support.
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I\/\anagement Discussion and Analysis
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Cyber Security had earlier entered into an agreement dated 30 September
2020 to form a digital technology joint venture company with China’s three
major telecommunications carriers and a wholly-owned subsidiary of a
state-owned public security technology company (For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 10 February 2021 and
circular dated 26 May 2021, which were published on the website of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited). The joint venture company will
provide financial institutions, government departments and enterprises
with digital solutions for cyber security. As at 31 March 2024, the joint
venture company has not yet been established.

To diversify into the Al business, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
Shenzhen YBDS IT Co., Ltd.* CRYITT B EEERKAR QA
("Shenzhen YBDS") signed a framework agreement during the financial
year ended 31 March 2022 to provide training in and consultancy on RPA
for a software and information technology service company. Such training
in and consultancy on RPA enable a leading telecommunications company
to provide some Al-based customer services such as answering customer
enquiries about outstanding fees and unused quota of data transmission
without involving any manpower. Such Al services and solutions not only
can replace manual workers in simple and routine jobs and thus can relieve
the pressure of the rising labour cost, but also can lay the foundation of big
data analytics, which can help companies to promote certain new services
or products among target customers.

In the Group's other businesses, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cyber
Security signed an agreement during the fourth quarter of the financial
year ended 31 March 2022 to authorize a website of a technology
company that builds a smart city to replicate digitally, issue and
disseminate on an information network the video content of an education
course.

During the Reporting Period, the Group also engaged in other businesses
that included the supply of electrical and electronic components, namely
inductors and master control chips; and designing mobile web pages for
marketing on behalf of an information technology firm and its client as an
end-user and providing technical support for them in running such web

pages.

1. Providing short messaging services for businesses

During the Reporting Period, the Group cooperated with an
information technology company in providing a multimedia short
messaging service for businesses on behalf of a branch of a major
telecommunications carrier of China in Guangdong province and in
providing short messaging services for businesses through the
network of that major telecommunications carrier.
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Conducting information verification for other
companies

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, Cyber Security had
signed two separate contracts to conduct information verification
for a securities brokerage and a certificate authority through
websites, APl or terminals. Previously, it signed an agreement with a
Shenzhen-based information technology system developer in June
2020 to conduct information verification on behalf of a mainland
China-based full-service investment bank.

Construction of a unified digital authentication
system, application integration and operation and
maintenance of the system

In July 2020, Cyber Security signed a contract to build a unified
digital authentication system, carry out application integration and
operate and maintain such system for an information technology
subsidiary of a China-based transportation infrastructure design and
construction firm. Cyber Security provided both services and
hardware for its client during the Reporting Period.

Building infrastructure for real-name system
management based on eCitizen digital identity
verification technology

In March 2022, Cyber Security signed a contract to build an
infrastructure for real-name system management based on eCitizen
digital identity verification technology for a technology
development company. Cyber Security would provide 5G-eCitizen
SIM cards, develop applications customized for certain occasions,
and provide technical support.

Authorizing a website to replicate digitally, issue
and disseminate on information network the
video content of an education course

In January 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cyber Security signed
an agreement to authorize a website of a technology company that
builds a smart city to replicate digitally, issue and disseminate on an
information network the video content of an education course.

Designing mobile web pages for marketing

In June 2022, Shenzhen YBDS signed a contract to design mobile
web pages for marketing on behalf of an information technology
firm and its client as an end-user and to provide technical support
for them in running such web pages for the client’s marketing
campaigns. The services were provided during the Reporting Period.
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PROSPECT

The outlook for China’s information system solution industry remains
cloudy. The business environment is still complicated and difficult as China
has yet to show any signs of a full economic recovery while the country’s
relations with the United States have yet to improve. It is against the
backdrop of these uncertainties that the Group has been shifting the focus
of its business to the operation of information technology systems from
the development of such systems.

Such move has yielded results as the operation of providing short
messaging services for businesses generated revenues that accounted for
approximately 70% of the Group’s total revenue during the Reporting
Period, helping to diversify and broaden its income stream. The Group is
considering increasing investment in the business of short messaging
services in the second half of 2024 so as to expand that operation and
increase the revenue, thereby developing it into one of the Group's growth
drivers. It also contemplates diversifying into other value-added services
such as voice messaging for marketing in the future.

The Group started its front-end business of distributing smartwatches for
children in mid-May 2024 in Beijing. Its first batch of the smartwatches
were distributed, bundled with the telecommunications services of a major
telecom carrier in China. The Group also plans to conduct marketing
campaigns for the smartwatches at schools in the second half of 2024.

The Group will continue to run its back-end businesses such as internet
electronic identity authentication and Al services and solutions. Such
businesses are aimed at capitalizing on China’s booming digital economy
and the growing trends towards digitalization and automation among
businesses.

The two-pronged strategy of fostering both the front-end and back-end
businesses as part of the Group’s business transformation and
diversification will enable it to mitigate the adverse impact of a difficult and
complicated business environment and add impetus to its business
development for the long term.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Company raised net proceeds of approximately HK$S100 million
through a subscription (the “Subscription”) on 5 August 2013 by issuing
450,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a subscription price of
HK$0.225 per ordinary share of the Company to Happy On Holdings
Limited ("Happy On"). Immediately after the completion of the
Subscription, Happy On held 987,888,771 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 72.83% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report.

As stipulated in the circular of the Company dated 11 July 2013, such
proceeds were to be applied in (i) paying and contributing to the
registered capital, increased registered capital and further investment in
Guangzhou YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (BN #8185 ERHZ B R A 7)) (‘Guangzhou
YBDS") and Beijing YBDS IT Co., Ltd.* Jt REBBEEBREARAA)
("Beijing YBDS"), the then two indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, especially for Beijing YBDS in order to meet the minimum capital
threshold requirement when submitting bids for the proposed projects
offered by relevant telecommunication service providers in the PRC; and (ii)
general working capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company applied
approximately HK$19,785,000 of the proceeds to pay up the outstanding
remaining increased registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS. As the
Company acquired China Mobile Payment Technology Group Company
Limited on 23 December 2014, a holding company that owns a subsidiary
with the aforesaid threshold requirement for bids submission, Beijing YBDS
was no longer needed and had been deregistered on 17 June 2016. As
stated in the announcement dated 23 December 2014, the part of
proceeds of approximately HK$45.5 million originally earmarked for Beijing
YBDS's registered capital and the capital increase, together with the
remaining balance of the proceeds were then added to the Company's
capital for new potential projects and general working capital purposes.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3
June 2013, 5 August 2013, 20 August 2014 and 23 December 2014, and its
circulars dated 11 July 2013 and 10 November 2014, respectively.

On 19 September 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party not connected with the Group
for the disposal of the entire equity interest in Guangzhou YBDS at a cash
consideration of RMB1, since then, Guangzhou YBDS is no longer a
subsidiary of the Company.
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Notwithstanding that the allocation of the unutilised amount of the net
proceeds as at 31 March 2023 had been revised during the Reporting
Period as particularised below, during the year ended 31 March 2024, a
total amount of approximately HK$8,909,000 of the net proceeds from the
Subscription was utilised for the purpose as previously disclosed in the
supplemental announcement of the Company dated 20 February 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, there was an unutilised amount of net proceeds of
approximately HKS$2,794,000, which was intended to be applied for general
working capital in the manner set out below. The expected timeline for the
intended use of the unutilised net proceeds is as follows:

BEWNTXAHFMAR =T _=F=A=+—HHK
FISREFEABASEND LB N RS R E
HiEs] BE-_Z-_WFZA=Z+—HILFE "
REEIAMSHRIEFFE A 498,909,000 T AR
SRR ARBBERA-_ZET-_=F-_A_-t+HMHNHE
FRNEFTEENEE -

RZZEZWME=ZRA=+—H " WABAMEHKE
TFREXY B 2,794,000 70 + BRIk N ICATEL A T A E
—REEBES  c RBAMBRIBFEE TR
TERARERIR AT ¢

Amount utilised

Expected timeline

during Unutilised net for utilising
the year ended proceeds as at the unutilised net
31 March 2024 31 March 2024 proceeds
BE-2-NmF R-ZZ-WEF
=A=+-—8H =A=+—H BRAKRBA
LFEN HARE A FRGRIEFEN
EBRAEHE FRiSRIRFHE RERER
HK$’000 HK$’000
(approximately) (approximately)
FET THET
(849) (#E49)
New potential projects - - -
¥EEIAR
General working capital (8,909) 2,794 End of March 2025
—REEES “ECRF=AK
Total (8,909) 2,794
#Et

The Company continues to stay prudent in applying the net proceeds from
the Subscription and has placed the unutilised net proceeds in interest-
bearing deposits with authorised financial institutions or licensed banks.
During the Reporting Period, the Company was yet to identify any suitable
new potential projects. In order to use the Group’s financial resources in a
more beneficial and effective way and to cope with its business and
operational needs, the Company has allocated approximately
HK$3,428,000 of the unutilised net proceeds from the purpose of new
potential projects to general working capital. The board of Directors
estimated that the time for utilising the remaining unutilised net proceeds
from the Subscription for general working capital will be by 31 March 2025.
The expected timeline for fully utilising the unutilised net proceeds is
based on the best estimations of the future market conditions made by the
Group and is subject to change based on the current and future
development of the market conditions.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period") , the
Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$16,152,000, representing a
decrease of approximately 12% when compared with that in the year
ended 31 March 2023 (the “Previous Period”) of approximately
HK$18,290,000.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$6,604,000 as compared with loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$10,108,000 for the Previous Period.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments

During the Reporting Period, when compared with the Previous Period,
revenue generated from hardware sales has decreased by approximately
68%, while revenue from services has decreased by approximately 74%.
The Group first recorded the revenue from the segment of short messaging
services of approximately HK$11,247,000 during the Reporting Period.

Geographical segments

The provision of system development services and other value-added
technical consultation services, hardware-related business and short
messaging services business mainly cater for the PRC market. Revenue
from the Hong Kong segment represented nil of the total revenue
(Previous Period: nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2024, the shareholders’ funds of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$11,924,000. Current assets were approximately
HK$14,752,000, mainly comprising bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$2,742,000, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately HK$52,000, contract assets of approximately
HK$188,000 and trade and other receivables of approximately
HK$11,770,000. Current liabilities mainly comprised trade and other
payables of approximately HK$16,663,000 and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$724,000. The net liability value per share was
approximately HK$0.001. The Group’s gearing ratio, expressed as a
percentage of bank borrowings and long term debts over total equity, was
nil. The liquidity ratio of the Group, determined as a ratio of current assets
over current liabilities, was 0.85:1 (as at 31 March 2023: 1.49:1).

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and China. The Group'’s assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
Renminbi. The currency exchange rate risk of the Group is immaterial, and
the Group did not engage in any hedging activities. However, the
management will monitor foreign exchange exposure and consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, the Group had no charges on the Group's
asset.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 24 employees (including 6 Directors)
(31 March 2023: 29 employees (including 7 Directors, one of which
resigned on 31 May 2023)). The total remuneration paid to employees,
including Directors, for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$5,883,000 (Previous Period: HK$7,175,000). Remuneration is determined
by reference to market terms and the performance, qualification and
experience of each individual employee. Annual year-end double pay is
paid based on each individual employee’s performance as recognition of
and reward for their contributions. Other benefits accruing to the
employees include contributions made to statutory mandatory provident
fund scheme and a group medical scheme. We also subsidise our
employees for pursuing further studies in related fields.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies during the
Reporting Period.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

In order to enhance the capital efficiency and to maximise the return from
the working capital of the Group, the Group reasonably and strategically
utilises the idle funds of the Group to conduct the subscriptions and
redemptions of wealth management products for investment purposes.

Going forward, the Group will continue to utilise part of its idle funds to
conduct the subscriptions and redemptions of wealth management
products, by taking into account of (i) the flexible investment term of each
of the wealth management products in which the Group is able to freely
subscribe additional or redeem part of the wealth management products
to cater the capital needs of the Group's operation; (ii) that the risk
associated with the wealth management products is relatively low and the
wealth management products are acquired from larger banks; (iii) that the
subscriptions and the redemptions offer a better return than the prevailing
fixed-term deposit interests rates generally offered by commercial banks in
the PRG; and (iv) that the subscriptions and redemptions have no material
impact on the operations and working capital of the Group.
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The significant investments held by the Group which were classified as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income during

BHE_Z-_NF=ZA=+—HIFE  K£EH
AR ATESAEMEZARSENSMEE

the year ended 31 March 2024 are as follows: MERRENT :
Percentage to
Fair value Dividend  the total assets
Redemption Exchange asat income asat
Name of investment Cost  during the year difference  31March 2024  during theyear 31 March 2024
R-B-mE R-2-mE
=ZA=+-H ZA=t-B#
REER A FRER EXZH ZBTE  FRREWA BEENBEIM
(HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000)
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately) (approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
(FER) (FERm) (FEm) (F&Rr) (F&Rr)
(#4) (84) (84) (#8) (#4) (B4)
PREBAZ—RiE
BOC Rijiyuelei — Daily Plan* 1,190 (1,139 (51) - 6 -
PEIBRTEETAREEHARE
B ER
ICBC Ultra-Short-Term RMB Wealth Management
Product with No Fixed Term* 4,799 (4,595) (204) - 33 -
IRBEREAARKENER
ICBC Ultra-Short-Term Legal Person RMB
Wealth Management Product* 457 (438) (19) - 1 -
IRBY —EADRNEFER B ER
ICBC Wealth Management - Legal Person
‘Tianlibao" Net Value Wealth Management
Product* 55 - €) 52 - -
RAERTAABEN S
CMB Ririxin Wealth Management Plan* 1,714 (1,642) (72) - 25 -
8,215 (7814) (349 52 65
BEFEHEBRAA
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Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other significant
investments during the Reporting Period.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “2024
Annual General Meeting") will be held on Friday, 9 August 2024 at 11:30
a.m. at 29/F, The Gateway, Tower 5, Harbour City, 15 Canton Road, Tsim Sha
Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2024 Annual General Meeting to be held at 11:30 a.m. on Friday,
9 August 2024, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 6 August 2024 to Friday, 9 August 2024, both dates inclusive.
During this period, no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In
order to qualify to attend and vote at the aforesaid meeting, all share
certificates with completed transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 5 August 2024 for registration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles in and adopted the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) in the Corporate Governance Code (the
"Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules ("GEM Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company has complied with
the Code Provisions set out in the Code throughout the Reporting Period
except for the deviations from Code Provisions C.1.8 and C.2.1 of the Code
as explained as follows:

Code Provision C.1.8

Code Provision C.1.8 stipulates that an issuer should arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its directors.

During the Reporting Period, the board (the “Board”) of Directors
considered that under the current situations of close management of the
Group and business scale, the possibility of actual litigation against the
Directors is very low. The Company will consider reviewing various
insurance cover proposals and will make such an arrangement as
appropriate.

Code Provision C.2.1

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate.

During the Reporting Period, the executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cai Dan
(who resigned on 31 May 2023), Mr. Wang Xiaogi, Ms. Ho Ching and Mr. Ho
Yeung focused on evaluating new potential business and investment
opportunities and formulating and implementing business strategies to
enhance the revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new
chairman and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable
candidates have been identified for such purpose.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CODE FOR DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiries with each of the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
adopted by the Company throughout the Reporting Period.

EFFECTIVE AND EXPERIENCED BOARD
Board Composition

The Board comprises the following members during the Reporting Period
and at the date of this report:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi

Mr. Ho Yeung

Ms. Ho Ching

Mr. Cai Dan (resigned on 31 May 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lau Chor Ki

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony

Mr. Wong Kin Kee
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Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to, among other matters, review
financial and operating performance and discuss the Group’s direction and
strategy.

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were held.

Details of the Directors’ attendance of the Board meetings during the
Reporting Period are as follows:
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Attendance/ Attendance/

Number Number

of Board of general

meetings meetings
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BTz BTz

EEEBRE RRAKEARE

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi FREER LA 4/4 /1
Mr. Ho Yeung fAFE £ 1/4 11
Ms. Ho Ching fAlfiE 2+ 4/4 1
Mr. Cai Dan (resigned on 31 May 2023) A (RZTEZ_=FH A=+—HET) -/~ -/~
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA 3/4 1/1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki MR ETE 3/4 1/1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mEAKE 3/4 1

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s overall strategy,
considering and approving financial statements, material contracts and
transactions as well as other significant policy and financial matters. The
Board delegates the day to day operation and administration functions to
the executive Directors and the management, while preserving the right to
finally approve key matters and strategic decisions. When the Board
delegates certain aspects of its management and administration functions
to the management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of the
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where the
management should report back and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Company. Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information
of Directors and Senior Management”, the Directors do not have any
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each
other.
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The Board understands that they are responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management system, as well as monitoring and
review of the effectiveness of such system. The Board has delegated such
responsibility to the executive Directors and the management of the
Group, and the executive Directors and the management will report to the
Board any findings regarding the risk management systems of the Group.

The Board and the management have reviewed the Group's financial,
operation, compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk
areas. During the Reporting Period, the Group has established a risk
management policy and risk reporting mechanism. Our risk management
policy covers various aspects including systematic risk identification and
assessment and risk response processes, and a comprehensive risk
monitoring and reporting mechanism.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and proposed agendas for all Board and committee meetings
are normally made available to Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors/committee members, to the extent
possible, at least 3 days before each Board or committee meeting to keep
Directors or committee members apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company enabling them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to senior management whenever necessary.

The secretary of the meeting is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for Directors' inspection.

According to the current practices of the Board, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests relating to a substantial shareholder,
Director or Directors, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting. The Company'’s articles of association also
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such substantial shareholder, Director or Directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

According to the Company's articles of association, not less than one-third
of the Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general
meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Any further appointment of an
independent non-executive Director, who has served the Board for more
than nine years, shall be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
the shareholders of the Company.

According to Code Provision B.2.2 of the Code, every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi (“Mr. Wang") was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 17 March 2015. Mr. Wang presently does not have a fixed
term of service with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company. The
remuneration of Mr. Wang is determined with reference to his
qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities in the Group and
prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung (“Mr. Ho") was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 1 June 2017. Mr. Ho has entered into a service contract with the
Company on the day of his appointment and has renewed his service
contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1
June 2020. He has further renewed his service contract with the Company
for a term of another three years commencing on 1 June 2023. His term of
office is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association.

Ms. Ho Ching (“Ms. Ho") was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 18 June 2021. Ms. Ho presently does not have a fixed term of service
with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company. The remuneration of Ms. Ho is
determined with reference to her qualifications, experience, duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (“Mr. Tse") was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 15 May 2014. Mr. Tse entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 17 May 2019. Mr. Tse has further renewed his
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another three years
commencing on 17 May 2022. His term of office is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association. Mr. Tse has served his role as an independent non-executive
Director for more than nine years, his re-election was subject to a separate
resolution which was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting held on 1 August 2023 (the “2023 Annual General
Meeting") pursuant to Code Provision B.2.3 of part 2 of the Code.
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Mr. Lau Chor Ki (“Mr. Lau”) was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 1 June 2017. Mr. Lau has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment
and has further renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of another three years commencing on 1 June 2023. His term of office
is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company's articles of association.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (“Mr. Wong") was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 3 April 2018. Mr. Wong has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment
and has renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
another three years commencing on 3 April 2021. He has recently renewed
his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another three
years commencing on 3 April 2024. His term of office is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the annual confirmation from each of the
current independent non-executive Directors as regards his independence
of the Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
considers that each of the current independent non-executive Directors is
independent of the Company.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) were appointed for a specific term but subject to the relevant
provisions of the Company’s articles of association or any other applicable
laws on the Directors’ removal or retirement. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, the independent non-executive Directors,
are appointed until 16 May 2025, 31 May 2026 and 2 April 2024.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate.

During the Reporting Period, the executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang
Xiaoqi, Mr. Ho Yeung, Ms. Ho Ching and Mr. Cai Dan (who resigned on 31
May 2023) focused on evaluating new potential business and investment
opportunities and formulating a new business strategy to enhance the
revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new chairman
and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable candidates
have been identified for such purpose.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family or other
material and/or relevant relationship between each of the executive
Directors and other members of the Board.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2024

MEsEE(MEEDBE-FT—tFA—HBE
BERERBUINFATES - WIRLBRARANE
BEZEZRFIVERER YEBRERXRAFRESE
ZEH - BT =FA-—HBRBE=F K
ZEHARBARF Z EBERARBFERER
BEEEE-

BEREEL((EXE ) ERZERBUIFNTE
BT N\FHA=-ABER -ZRLEER
NRENHEEZEZERFILRER WO BART
BEZAEN BZE—FHA=ZBRRIE=F -
RAMHEARREELRER BT _MNFMA
“HESE=F  BFZEHERBAQR ZAR
ERMAWERENEREE -

BYEHITES
RNAFEEESRIBIIIFNTEEREARRD
A Z I B D BREGEM AR BIEE 509153 1 2
FEERIG  TRESBIBIUIENTESRTY
LAV AV N/NIET I

FHTESHEY

FTEFRITER (BEBUIENTES) YUE
TFHELZT HEENERNETAXART
AR A2 A0 R A A BB G ST sk ) L Ath 3 FRE B P
BR - BURTESTHFEHLAE WEFTFLEE
MEEREENEHONEE T _AFHA
+RB - ZE-R"FRA=F+—BRZ-ZZT_UF
MAZH-

ERRITHAR
TGN EC2 IR - TR RTRBH 2B
ETES -

HERE RITEFIHRREE AFEE
MR ERENEE (R B =ZFAA=1—
BEHE) BT A EEEBRIRERE X
EREBRE - AR RR 2z hEmRIERES -
A BEERZEENMESVWEEA A&
BAEREM TR RITHAE -

RIEEhEREEEZRE] —SMREEIN -
BPTEZNEFSEMK BRI Z HBEE T -
% xSk EMERNRREBBRE -



Corporate Governance Report
TEERME

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to
5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Group's audit
findings, accounting policies and standards, changes of accounting rules (if
any), compliance to the GEM Listing Rules, internal and audit control, and
cash flow forecast.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the Reporting Period, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

The Group's unaudited first quarterly and half-yearly results and audited
annual results for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee which is of the view that such financial statements have been
prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting standards and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the internal control and
risk management mechanism of the Group to be operating effectively for
the Reporting Period.

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the
Reporting Period is set out below:

—  reviewed the Group's quarterly, half-yearly and annual financial
reports and results announcements for the Board's approval;

—  reviewed and considered the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Company with the management;

—  reviewed the audit, internal control, risk management and financial
reporting related matters of the Company with the management;
and

— reviewed the work of the external auditors of the Company,
evaluating their independence and performance, and made
recommendation to the Board as to their appointment.
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During the Reporting Period, three meetings of the Audit Committee were
held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit Committee
meetings are as follows:

RBERE BLZEEERT-RERE - FX
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Attendance/

Number of

Audit Committee
meetings held during
the Reporting Period

HERE

RBEHBERITZ

EREESSRRHY

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA 3/3
Mr. Lau Chor Ki M2 3/3
Mr. Wong Kin Kee ERELE 3/3

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established in November 2005 and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference on (i) 4 December 2013 in
accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
requirements set out under Code Provisions; and (i) 15 December 2022 to
be in line with, among other matters, Rule 23.07A of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony,
Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year or on an as
needed basis. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the Directors
and the senior management and to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages and conditions of employment for the
executive Directors and the senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has performed
its duties to review the remuneration of Board members and a summary of
work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Reporting
Period is set out below:

—  reviewed the service contract and remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and/or senior management;

— assessed the performance of the executive Directors; and

—  made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and/or senior management.
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During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meeting are as follows:
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Attendance/
Number of
Remuneration
Committee meeting
held during the
Reporting Period

HERE

REEHBERTZ

FHZEESSERH

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA 1/1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki ks 11
Mr. Wong Kin Kee EREESEAE 1/1

The policies for the remuneration of the executive Directors and, if
appropriate, the independent non-executive Directors are:

—  to ensure that none of the Directors should determine their own
remuneration;

—  the remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
which the Company competes for human resources;

—  the Group should aim to attract and retain executives and to
motivate them to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst taking
into account individual performance; and

—  the remuneration should reflect the performance, complexity of
duties and responsibility of individuals.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “"Nomination
Committee”) was established in May 2011 and the Company had adopted
a revised specific written terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in
compliance with the Code Provision B.3.

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
(“Mr. Tse"), Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse is the current chairman of
the Nomination Committee.
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Mr. Tse was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15
May 2014. He has served his role as an independent non-executive Director
for more than nine years, his re-election was subject to a separate
resolution which was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
2023 Annual General Meeting pursuant to Code Provision B.2.3 of part 2 of
the Code. The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment
of Mr. Tse at the 2023 Annual General Meeting.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to identify potential
candidates and to make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors.
During the Reporting Period, no new Director was appointed to the Board.
In nominating a Director to the Board, the Nomination Committee will take
into account the following criteria which include, among other things:

— age, skills, knowledge, experience, expertise, professional and
educational qualifications, background and other personal qualities
of the candidate;

—  effect on the Board's composition and diversity;

— commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively
carry out his/her duties;

—  potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the candidate is
selected:;

—  independence of the candidate, if applicable; and

—  other factors considered to be relevant by the Nomination
Committee on a case by case basis.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and the Nomination
Committee is responsible for monitoring the achievement of the
measurable objectives set out in the policy.

The Company recognises and seizes the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee ~ R¥REHIM IRBR LB € CRIT— N &% - 24
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination ZE&@&@KE LB
Committee meeting are as follows:

Attendance/Number
of Nomination
Committee meeting
held during the
Reporting Period

H:':f-% Ly

RBEHBETZ

Tm%?ﬁ%a KB

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony AT E LA 1/1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki bl 11
Mr. Wong Kin Kee EEALE Il

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS XERREE

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance ZAARIM I TEEHEEBEARERNDES
practices relevant to the model and growth of its business. In order to  JAE i - AREDEE AR & R &K 2 MEE
achieve a right balance between governance and performance, the Board J#3%E - ESe B o BT EZHECEET A
is responsible for introducing and proposing relevant principles concerning &R Al » AR 12 FA AR D B D ZEE S KE o
corporate governance so as to enhance the standard of corporate

governance of the Company.

The Board is primarily responsible for performing the following corporate # =@+ B & BT T ¥ EAMR4A:
governance functions:

@  to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on (@) HI|F] KRB AEB XS ABEREHR -

corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board; WHESERLES
(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional (b)) M REREELSAETEENE ) L
development of Directors and senior management; BEERRE:

(©  to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on () i NRERNEBETETEEREETRT
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; FHEBBR KER

(d)  todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance  (d)  #I5] ~ 5 M ES & & A EA{E BNEEHRE
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and STEARARFM(OAE)

(e)  to review the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in - (¢) 4l ANEBEEFFRINBERERA D XSS
the Corporate Governance Report. WENIELIKRE -

The details of the corporate governance functions reviewed and performed A IREHIR] - MRS AR H 5O KEE %
by the Board during the Reporting Period are disclosed and explained in ~ B M FETT » WA EE AR ERNILENLH -
this Corporate Governance Report.

;%E%’EEFE"\T
—E-EERE
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TERERAHRE

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the Code Provision C.1.4, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and ~ &11F
relevant. To ensure the Directors’ contribution to the Board remain
informed and relevant, the Company will be responsible for arranging and
finding suitable training for Directors and providing for its funding.

The Company will provide a comprehensive package of induction materials
about the duties, responsibilities and liabilities as well as statutory and

regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, an individual

training record of each Director is set out below:

E5EH
RIS Cr 41
HEHR -

IR REIRRHES

&%ﬁ% LA&/%KE&

AIFRCERE ST -

Attending or
participating in
courses/seminars/
conference/
workshops

relevant to rules and
regulations and the
Group's business/
directors’ duties

=

RS YN e &
ERATREESFEHIATEN
REEFENBBERTREESELIAFEEKN
BR ARRKEER/RESTLH

EEHALETHE
NHEREESHE
BEL - g

SRABEZIE

ARRMEBIREEE ETmARESE 2 BE  &F
CERETZEAN

BER o

RBEHMRAMBEAREAY  SEFZEAS

Reading materials
relating to rules
and regulations

and discharge of
directors’ duties and
responsibilities

HERS M
HEAREEER
EESHETHAZ MEFERAKR
BRI R AR EBI R ET
BV - ESHER
83/ 1Y EEzis
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Xiaogi THmEE v /
Mr. Ho Yeung Al E R E v v
Ms. Ho Ching Atz + v v
Mr. Cai Dan (resigned on 31 May 2023) BREE(RZZEZ=FAA=1+—HET) - -
Independent Non-executive Directors VEHTES
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony WFEEE v v/
Mr. Lau Chor Ki MEFEE v v/
Mr. Wong Kin Kee HEELAE v/ v

Quantum Thinking Limited
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TERERAHRE

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external service provider, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael ("Mr. Tung") as its company secretary. Although Mr. Tung is
accessible by all Directors and the senior management, Mr. Ho Yeung and
Mr. Wang Xiaoqji, our executive Directors, are the principal persons with
whom Mr. Tung liaises with. For the Reporting Period, Mr. Tung has
received relevant professional training of not less than 15 hours to update
his skills and knowledge.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Reporting
Period were audited by Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited (‘Prism”)
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Prism
will be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company subject to the
approval of the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company's auditors, Prism, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
was as follow:

REWE
ARABERE—RINBIREIEHERES KL
(BREED)RERAFAWE BELXREFNSMN
EEEORBMBREL  ERTEEMFEER
THEBEAERREEZEEBEA - REREDRE -
BREFBEIT ORISR ZEEFEEEIIA
PRTT E BB S IR HE RN

o BB 37 BN

RBEHRE - ARAERAMBERREH LSEHA
SR EBMAERAR ([HEH]) Fx 0 LEHE
FffﬂxﬁﬂﬁﬁAb:ﬁ ENLZEGCRE
ZeEF BEHNZEEBAASARE 2 ZEE
VE&E\%&$ ARRRERERRBF RS L1 -

RmEHRRE > REZRIFBZRGE M HEMAR
NEZBERB MM T

Type of Services HK$’000
PR 7% 38 5Bl FER
Audit services ENZIRTE 480
Non-audit services IEEAZIRTE -
Total Et 480
ETRHEBRAR

ZEFERE
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) with
effect from 1 January 2019. The Dividend Policy allows the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) to share the profits of the Company
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future growth. According
to the Dividend Policy, in addition to the final dividends, the Company may
declare interim dividends or special dividends from time to time.

According to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall consider the following
factors before proposing and declaring dividends:

(i) the Group's general financial condition;
(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;
(i)  the Group's liquidity position;

(iv)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

(vi)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

(vii)  the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(ix)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Laws of the Cayman Islands, the articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board and
there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). In designing the Board’'s composition, board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, there is one female Director on the Board. The
Company considers that the minimum requirement for gender diversity in
the Board has been attained. The Company currently has no concrete plan
(including the numerical targets and timelines) for further promoting
gender diversity in the Board In the future, the Board will continue to pay
due regard to the importance of diversity in identifying potential
candidates for directorships and continue to ensure that gender is one of
the factors to be considered in appointing Directors by the Nomination
Committee.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the workforce
level. As at 31 March 2024, the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group
(including senior management) was 57:43 male to female.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
services. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Implementation and Monitoring

The Nomination Committee reviewed the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, and monitored the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy annually.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and
considered that the Group achieved the Board Diversity Policy during the
year. The Nomination Committee will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the board diversity, as appropriate, to ensure its continued
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that
may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board, together with the management, has developed the Group's
internal control, risk assessment and management systems. The Board has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining adequate and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of monitoring the Group's risk
management and internal control systems to the executive Directors and
the management, and the executive Directors and the management will
report to the Board any findings regarding the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group from time to time.

The Board reviews and evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at least
annually to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage and mitigate risks, rather than to eliminate risks, of failure to
achieve the business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. We have employed a bottom-up approach for identification,
assessment and mitigation of risk at all business unit levels and across
functional areas.
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Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include the establishment of a risk management policy and a risk
reporting mechanism to keep track of and document identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the respective responsive procedures,
and the ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness.

The Board has taken into consideration factors including but not limited to
the followings when identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that
affect the achievements of the Group's objectives:

—  the nature and extent of the risks facing the Group;

— the extent and categories of risks that the Board regards as
acceptable for the Group;

—  the likelihood of the risks materialising;

—  the Group's ability to reduce the incidence of risks and the impact
on its business when risks materialise; and

—  the costs of operating particular controls relative to the benefit
thereby obtained in managing the related risks.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Board captures and identifies
the key inherent risks that affect the achievement of its objectives by
performing the followings:

— understanding organisational objectives and business processes;

— determining the risk appetite and establishing the risk assessment
criteria;

— identifying the risks associated with achieving or not achieving the
objectives and assessing the likelihood and potential impact of
particular risks; and

— monitoring and evaluating the risks and the arrangements in place
to address them.
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Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems by considering factors including but not limited to the
followings:

—  the changes since the last annual review in the nature and extent of
significant risks, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

—  the scope and quality of management’s monitoring of risks and of
the system of internal control, and where applicable, the work of its
internal audit function and other third party consultants;

—  the extent and frequency of the communication of the results of the
monitoring to the Board or the Audit Committee which enables a
cumulative assessment on the state of control in the Group and the
effectiveness with which risk is being managed;

— the incidence of significant control failings or weakness that has
been identified at any time during the period and the extent to
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material
impact on the Group's financial performance or condition; and

— the effectiveness of the Group’s processes relating to financial
reporting and GEM Listing Rules compliance.

In view of the Group’s business and scale of operations, and in order to
adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic reviews of
the Group's internal controls, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant, PAL Advisory Limited ("PAL Advisory"), to execute the internal
audit function. PAL Advisory has conducted an internal control review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting procedures, systems
and control for the Reporting Period in accordance with the requirements
under Code Provision D.2 of the Code and the scope of review agreed and
approved by the Audit Committee.
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PAL Advisory reported to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee
was satisfied that there had been no major deficiency noted in the areas of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems being reviewed
after implementation of the recommendations on the internal control
deficiency. The Audit Committee reviews annually the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated procedures and has
access to information necessary to fulfil its duties and responsibilities with
respect to risk assessment and risk management. Accordingly, the Audit
Committee and the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems to be effective and implemented with adequate resources
during the Reporting Period.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information being
maintained until consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information, which includes:

—  designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

—  designated persons and departments to determine further escalation
and disclosure as required; and

—  designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and respond
to external enquiries.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group to be operating effectively.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has followed up on those
recommendations made by the independent consultant as part of its
comprehensive review on the internal controls of the Group. As such, the
Group's internal supervision and risk prevention measures continue to
improve.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities
in the auditor’s report contained in this annual report for the Reporting
Period.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the re-appointment of the auditors of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER'’S RIGHTS

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, any
one or more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board and sufficient contact details to enable these
enquiries to be properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong at Unit 1308, 13/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board.

Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting
forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the Board by written
requisition. Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, a
shareholder or shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures as
set out in the paragraph headed "How shareholders can convene an
extraordinary general meeting” above.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted the shareholders’ communication policy and
considers that effective communication with the Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the Group's
business performance and strategies. The Company has established various
and a wide range of communication channels with the Shareholders. These
include shareholders’ general meetings, interim results and annual results,
interim reports and annual reports, announcements and circulars and
results announcement. In addition, the Company updates its website from
time to time to keep the Shareholders updated of the latest information of
the Company’'s recent development. The Company endeavours to
maintain an ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders. At the annual
general meeting, the Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are
available to meet with the Shareholders and answer their enquiries. For the
year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has strictly implemented the
shareholders’ communication policy in accordance with relevant
requirements by conducting multi-channel communications with the
Shareholders and investors through various methods, including the
issuance of communication documents (such as announcements and
regular reports), updating the Company’s website, and convening results
announcements and shareholders’ meetings, etc. In view of the above, the
Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy, and considered the policy effective.

The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (http.//www.hkexnews.hk/) and of
the Company (http://www.8050hk.com/).

Save for the adoption of the second amended and restated articles of
association of the Company by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting held on 1 August 2022 to, among others, (i) bring the Company’s
articles of association to be in line with the relevant requirements of the
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the GEM Listing Rules, (i) enable
the Company to convene and hold electronic or hybrid general meetings
of members and (i) make other consequential and housekeeping changes,
there are no significant changes in the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association during the Reporting Period. For details of
amendments to the Company'’s articles of association, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 24 June 2022 and its circular dated 30
June 2022, respectively.
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INTRODUCTION

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of system development services and other value-
added technical consultation services and trading of hardware products
and short messaging service fee. The Group also has operations in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC" or “China") market in the areas of
manufacturing of ancillary high-tech software and hardware products;
developing and establishing integrated online platforms for the
distribution of mobile products and the provision of value-added services;
and setting up joint ventures with multinational companies to introduce
and procure mobile application services.

Excellent Master Investments Limited (“Excellent Master”) is principally
engaged in financing and provision of payroll and administrative services
in Hong Kong and has an office located in Hong Kong.

Shenzhen Cyber Security Authentication Co, Ltd. (RIIT AL REBR A
A]) (“Cyber Security’) is principally engaged in the technical development
and software development of credible identity authentication services
related products in the PRC. Shenzhen YBDS IT Co, Ltd. (R B H{Z 25
R AR A7) (‘Shenzhen YBDS') is a telecommunications company which
constructs unified payment system and platform, and to provide training in
and consultancy on robotic process automation for a software and
information technology service company. All two subsidiaries are located at
an office in Shenzhen. Guangzhou YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (/N EEIHE B R A
fR 72 7)) was disposed of in September 2023.

ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
summarises the Group’s environmental, social and governance ("ESG”)
practices, plans and performance, and demonstrates the Group's
commitment to sustainable development.

Reporting Period

Unless specifically stated otherwise, this Report covers the ESG activities,
challenges and measures taken by the Group from 1 April 2023 to 31
March 2024 (the “Year” or “2024").
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Reporting Scope

The reporting scope of the Report is consistent with that in the previous
reporting year (“2023") and is determined based on the materiality and
revenue contribution of the business segments under the Group's direct
operational control throughout the Year. The Report covers the overall
performance, risks, strategies, measures and commitment in ESG areas of
the Group's offices in Hong Kong and Shenzhen, where the Group'’s
principal businesses are located.

Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set
out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’).

For the preparation of this Report, the Group has adopted the following
reporting principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality: The Group regularly conducts materiality assessments to
identify the material ESG issues to the Group's business, thereby adopting
the confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation of the Report.
The materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) and the Environmental, Social and Governance
Working Group (the "ESG Working Group”). For further details, please
refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment”.

Quantitative: The standards, methodologies and applicable assumptions
used in the calculation of key performance indicators (“KPIs") data were
supplemented by explanatory notes.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the preparation approach of the
Report is consistent with the previous year for comparison purposes. If
there are any changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation methods
that may affect comparisons with previous reports, the Group will provide
explanations for the corresponding data.

Balance: This Report avoids selections, omissions, or presentation formats
that may inappropriately influence any decision or judgment by the Report
reader.
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MESSAGE FROM THE DIRECTOR

Dear Valued Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present this Report which
demonstrates the Group’s growing commitment to improving the Group’s
ESG performance.

While the Group is committed to creating value for its shareholders, it also
strives to fulfil its corporate social responsibility. The Board is ultimately
responsible for overseeing the Group’s corporate governance and overall
ESG management approach. The Board plays a supervisory role in
collecting data, drafting and reviewing the Report. Information on the
Group'’s governance structure is set out in the section headed “Governance
for Sustainability”.

In order to prioritise material ESG-related issues, the Board continuously
communicates with the Group's stakeholders with reference to the
opinions of different stakeholders, and regularly invites them to participate
in the materiality assessment to assess the materiality of various ESG issues
and their risks to the Group's operations. Information on the stakeholder
communication channels and the materiality assessment conducted by
the Group are set out in the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment” respectively. In order to better understand the
stakeholders’ expectations on the Group's sustainable development, the
Group will further strengthen the communication with stakeholders and
formulate relevant sustainable development policies and measures with
reference to their opinions to improve the Group'’s ESG performance.
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The Group is committed to minimising its environmental impact to ensure
sustainable business growth. As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group
has been taking measures in different areas to reduce its environmental
impact and regularly reviewing the effectiveness of such measures. In
addition, the Group recognises the importance of setting targets for its ESG
performance. Therefore, the Group has set targets for ESG issues that are
material to the Group. The Board and ESG Working Group use the data
collected to compare the Group's performance in different years to track
the progress of ESG targets. To achieve the ESG targets, the Group
implements different environmental protection measures and raises
employees’ awareness of ESG. The Group believes that these objectives
and environmental protection measures can help raise the environmental
awareness of the Group’s employees and enhance the Group's ESG
performance to meet the expectations of stakeholders.

Wang Xiaoqi
Director
21 June 2024
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GOVERNANCE FOR SUSTAINABILITY
The Group has established the ESG Working Group to raise employees

awareness of ESG issues. The ESG Working Group is comprised of senior
management and general staff with adequate knowledge on ESG. Its
members span across different business departments. They are responsible
for executing the Group’s ESG measures, collecting and analysing ESG data,
giving suggestions to the Board on ESG issues and reviewing ESG-related

matters across the Group’s different departments.

With the assistance of the ESG Working Group, the Board continuously
evaluates and monitors the Group's ESG performance, risks, opportunities
and targets. The Board and the ESG Working Group arrange meetings at
least once per year to discuss the effectiveness of the Group's policies and
procedures and seek opportunities to improve the Group's ESG
performance. The ESG Working Group reports its findings to the Board at
least once per year so that the Board can find solutions to manage the
Group's ESG risks and opportunities.

The Group has established a quantitative ESG performance management
mechanism that includes important ESG indicators to review the Group's
progress on the relevant ESG targets. The ESG Working Group is responsible
for assisting in the execution of the relevant measures to strive to achieve
the expected progress.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability of the
Group. The Group fully appreciates the needs to build both online and
offline communication channels and to provide stakeholders with timely
reports on strategic planning and performance of the Group in order to
establish a continuing communication mechanism with the stakeholders.
In addition, the Group consults the stakeholders on their recommendations
and propositions to ensure its business practices can meet the
expectations of the stakeholders.
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The stakeholders include the shareholders, governments and regulatory
bodies, employees, customers, suppliers as well as society and the public.

The Group discusses with the stakeholders through various channels for %7

their expectations and relevant feedback of the Group as shown below:

Stakeholders

Communication channels

FOERERE BRREEHE B8 TP -
HEBARMERAR - AEEFEBZBRENR
AWM ENPERANEENAMERE
BT -

Expectations

B E BBERE ¥

Shareholders Annual general meetings and other general Financial results

%5 meetings WIS EE
BEAFRG RHEMBRRERE Corporate transparency
Financial reports PEFHE

Governments and regulatory bodies

BF R EE#E

Employees

B8

Customers
B

Suppliers
HrEm

Society and the public
HE kAR

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2024

e
Announcements and circulars
NERIEK

Regular reporting

7E HABE %y

Written or electronic communication
NEAREFHER

Public consultation

NREGA

Training and seminars
ol R &
Regular performance appraisal

EHIR R G

Customer services hotline and email
BRI EAR K BE
Company website

NGIEEDY

Supplier performance assessment
HER &I
Tele-conference

e
=

Community investment
HERRE

ESG reports

RE - HekELRRE

Sound risk management and internal
control

ToE R E I R AR R
Corporate sustainability

DERAFEER

Compliance operation
AR

Continuous communication
RHEBR

Beneficial cooperation

KA tE

Career development

BRER

Competitive remuneration and benefits
BHBEF N H MR

Equal opportunity

TEHKE

Healthy and safe working environment
BEERE2TIERR

Customer rights and interests protection
RIE 2 P A Kl

Customer privacy protection
RIEEFLE

High quality products and services

BEEm LR

Responsible supply chain management
BEMHERER

Business ethics and credibility
BEBEREE

Fair bidding

APHRE

Supplier privacy protection

REEHERMLE

Environmental protection
BRI
Employment opportunities provision

RUHERS
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Year, the Group undertook its annual materiality assessment
exercise. This involved conducting interviews and surveys with internal and
external stakeholders to identify the most significant operating,
environmental and social impacts towards its business. The management
and employees who are responsible for the key functions of the Group
have participated in preparing the Report, and have assisted the Group in
reviewing its operations, identifying key ESG issues and assessing the
importance of these issues to its businesses and stakeholders. The material
ESG topics will be covered in the Report.
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Greenhouse gas ('GHG") emissions BEFE([BERBHR 9

Waste management BENER 10
Energy consumption BiRERE I
Water consumption KEFHE 12
Climate change REE( 13
Employee benefits EEEN 14
Equal opportunity TEie 15
Occupational healthand safety ~ BERERZZ
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CONTACT THE GROUP

The Group values feedback from stakeholders. If you have any enquiries or
suggestions regarding the Report or the Group's performance in
sustainable development, please feel free to contact the Group by post. % °
The Group's contact is as follows:

Address: Unit 1308, 13/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,

Hong Kong

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

BMBEAKE

AEBERHNENRE - B THARESL
AEEEARERRTANKRREEAESHRE
AHEFBABT I ARAEEEE - AEE

MEZEFANT
otk : HEEFELITBISIREARP LI13E
1308 &
A. EIE
REBEE

Environmental Targets

The Group strives to minimize its potential impact on the
environment and takes sustainable development into consideration
when developing its business strategy. With the aim to address
shareholders’ expectations and concerns about ESG issues, and to

better manage the Group’s performance on material ESG issues, the

Group has set targets on GHG emissions, waste management and
energy consumption in 2023. The ESG Working Group will continue
to review the Group's progress towards its targets for each reporting
period and make efforts to achieve such targets.

The Group's environmental targets are summarised as follows:

AEBH NG A EHRFBERNT ERER
N WHEHIE EE KRR E BRI SEER
ROERRERE e kB aREnNYE
BT URAMEEAREEENRE
HEkERRELNRE  AREFE-F
“ZFRERBHR  EEWMEEMERHE
FEER - IRE - G RERTENAKESE
WA AKEESRENANNBEFLER - I
NEREMRBRE -

REBEMRRFRBEHMRMAT -

Aspect Target Progress
g BE BE
GHG emissions Maintaining or reducing the total GHG emissions  In progress
SRR HEIR intensity, using approximately 65.09 kg CO,e per ~ ¥#ETTH
m?in 2023 as the baseline.
N—ZB—=F8F K509 T R
EmEEREE  #HIBRELIERE
HEREE -
Waste management Maintaining or reducing the non-hazardous  In progress
REEYE R waste intensity, using approximately 0.17 kg~ #£7TH
per m?in 2023 as the baseline.
NZBZ=FFFHRNTATRE
£ BBRREETEEYEE -
Energy consumption Maintaining or reducing the total energy  In progress
BEIRERE consumption intensity, using approximately — #£77H

86.66 kWh per m?in 2023 as the baseline.
NZZEZ_=FFTFHAKK8666 TREFR
% @R EAREREREE -
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Emissions

The Group attaches great importance to good environmental
management, and strives to protect the environment to fulfil social
responsibilities of the Group. The Group has formulated the
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the Environmental
Protection Management Measures for Offices to regulate the limited
GHG and non-hazardous wastes generated during operation, so as
to contribute to environmental protection and pursue sustainable
development.

Various sustainable development measures have been adopted to
address environmental responsibilities, including but not limited to
encouraging employees to switch off the lights after the use of a
room to reduce electricity usage. The Group is committed to
continuously improving the ways these initiatives are being
promoted.

During the Year, the major sources of GHG emissions included
indirect GHG emissions from purchased electricity (Scope 2) and
paper waste disposal (Scope 3). The Group's total GHG emissions
and intensity have decreased during the Year mainly because of no
vehicle usage and the decrease in electricity consumption since
moving to a smaller Hong Kong office.

In addition, the Group has introduced measures to raise
environmental protection awareness into its day-to-day operations.
Employees are encouraged to minimise the energy consumption
and paper wastage by ways such as (i) the establishment of general
guidelines for efficient use of resources; (ii) daily cost-saving
proposals such as the prior use of recycled papers for printing and
setting double-sided printing as the default setting to reduce the
use of paper; and (i) paperless office initiatives to reduce paper
usage. Furthermore, the Group has encouraged green office concept
and promoted the 3R concept of “reduce, reuse and recycle”. It has
actively reminded its employees of the prevention of environmental
pollution and encouraged waste reduction.

There was no hazardous waste produced from the operations of the
offices in Hong Kong or Shenzhen. The Group’s major non-hazardous
waste produced from the operations of these two offices was office
paper. The total non-hazardous waste has slightly increased during
the Year mainly due to the decrease in the amount of paper
recycled. Some printed documents were non-recyclable due to their
single-use nature or the requirement for mailing. The intensity of
non-hazardous waste has remained at the same level compared to
2023.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
ooz S AT S A
RIE g KERWE

235 €7)
rEERESRRIFNBEREE  BHRE
RS BITASEOLGEL - AEED 3
E(REAME EEBR) ROAZRARE
BRWE) NEEEEBRPELNER
BEREREEHEEY  AREBETEX
ARHERRN—H ) -

BARRSEAHERRERARERRE
T BRETRIEEE THEEREHELE
PIREARE - WRARAEE - AEEH I
B ABEEROEESR -

RER - BRERBHRNEERRBIEING
BEH(BE2) MEARE (BE3)WEER
EREFR - RFAR - AEERREERE
BRERZEAMTNE  WHEEHNEE
EWERNEEEBBRIMHAERAEE
PR o

AN REBEREEEPSIARSRRE
BEEN - RSB E TEBA T T AEE
B BETRH R MOR B ARGR ¢ () B E A RUE B
BIRE—ARIES] ¢ () B FERER - T
RHECEREKA AR BRRRERESE
EFTEN AR A R 8 ¢ i) AR A 5T
EILUR A AR o AN - R B IR B AR B
N EEIROER  BEEVEALE
REBE|MBRBIR - ARERGRIEES T
PRS- WS BRI EEY) -

BARRRIMERELEXBRLBEELS
TEEY - ARERMEREREEMEL
MEIBEERZVAPAEMR - NFEA -
BEBEEMESEM LT  WHEEANK
SREUWEIR D o BB T EIHF /R — IR IEAE A
XFFH - RREEOW - BEEEYTE
BB —F - = FHBERRKTF -

BFEHEERAT
ZEFERE



As the Group does not consume a significant volume of water in its
business activities, the Group’s operation did not generate material
discharges into water during the Year. Moreover, the amount of
water consumption of the Group represents the sewage discharge
volume.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to air and
GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The relevant laws and
regulations include, but are not limited to, the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Water Pollution
Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group's
emissions in the Year are shown in the table below:

Air Pollutant Emissions

The Group's air emissions mainly come from the consumption of
unleaded petrol during the operation of vehicles. Since there was no
vehicle usage during the Year, the Group was unable to obtain air
pollutant emissions data in the Year. To minimise the impact on the
environment, the Group has taken proactive measures to reduce air
emissions, such as regular maintenance and repair of vehicles to
prevent them from emitting excessive emissions due to broken
parts, etc., and strict compliance with emission standards. The
following table details the Group's air emissions data:
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Indicators Unit (Note 1) 2024 2023
B By (AfaE1) —E-QmEF —E=-=
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) g N/A 194.22
mELD 5 T

Sulphur oxides (SOx) g N/A 2.94
malty ) AN jE

Particulate matter (PM) g N/A 14.30
FERLY) ) A3

Note 1: The calculation of air emissions is based on the “How to Prepare an ESG Report
— Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs" issued by the Stock
Exchange.
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GHG Emissions BERBEEENR

Indicator (Note 1) Unit 2024 2023
B (K1) By —E-OEF —EC=
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) kg CO,e N/A 531.98
HEAERBYME (8E1) AT —EcES NEm

Energy indirect GHG emissions from electricity kg CO,e 17,846.21 24,088.23

consumption (Scope 2)

REMELNEREZREREHNE (BE2) A[T_ALKEE

Other indirect GHG emissions from disposal of paper kg CO.e 319.50 30941
waste at landfills (Scope 3) (Note 2)

R EREEEANEMHEEAERE AFZERES
PEiE (8E3) (it 2)

Total GHG emissions kg CO.e 18,165.71 24,929.62

REREHRAS DTSR EE

Intensity of total GHG emissions per m? of floor area kg CO,e/m? 4743 65.09

(Note 3)
ST ERENASABMREESE AR -SLBER Tk
(KtaE3)

Note 1: GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and are Mat1 - BRERBHENERUA—EIREERBEMES
based on, including but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A WER (BFEETRR) 7 E R &7
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources AEFEERIBEESTRNCAETRELRE %
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, the EE DEGTEREIZE) BEENKRES
“Sustainability Report 2023" published by HK Electric Investments Limited and MRA R M0 FAFEERIRE)ARF
the “Baseline Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China for 2019 = AR EFNE A B IR 55 5P B R R 2L R84
Emission Reduction Projects” published by the Department of Climate Change #2019 F [E R BETE B b B[ 13 A B R AR B
of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s Republic of China. EF)e

Note 2: As the water supply and drainage facilities of the Group’s offices in PRC and Mat2 : ARBMIRS R REBIHEEOEKRFEKE
Hong Kong are managed by the property management company, the Group HIRMEEERARERE BWASEFATE
did not have water consumption record during the Year, hence other indirect $FEFEKE - AL FRNEmEE (BE3) AR
(Scope 3) GHG emissions during the Year was only sourced from paper waste REHEREERES -
disposal.

Note 3: As at 31 March 2024, total floor area of offices included in the reporting scope i3 RZE-WE=A=+—H it ARSE&HER
was 383 m? (31 March 2023: 383 m?). These data are used for other intensity Mt EEAEERRAEAK(ZE_=F
calculations as well. ZA=+—H:383FHXK)  BRAKBIAE

HH R -

BFEHEERAT
ZEFERE
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Wastes BEY

Indicators Unit 2024 2023
BE By —BF —B=-=
Hazardous wastes produced in total (Note 1) kg N/A N/A
PESAZRRENEE (K1) NI e e A
Intensity of hazardous wastes kg/m? N/A N/A
BEEENETE NP TEA TE M
Non-hazardous wastes produced in total (Note 2) kg 66.56 64.46
PRELEBERREYEE (Hif2) NIy

Intensity of non-hazardous wastes kg/m? 0.17 0.17
BERRYTE NIV

Note 1: The Group does not generate hazardous wastes including chemical wastes,
clinical wastes and hazardous chemicals in its operations.

Note 2: This figure represents the major non-hazardous waste produced by the Group,
which is office paper.

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business
activities on the environment. A number of initiative measures
designed to conserve resources have been introduced to promote
employees’ awareness of the need for resource conservation and
achieve efficient utilisation of resources.

Energy Management

As mentioned in the above “Emissions” section, the Group has
formulated the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the
Environmental Protection Management Measures for offices to
minimise the electricity consumed by the employees. To implement
the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy, employees are required to
switch off equipment, including air-conditioners, computers, printers,
photocopiers and lights when they finish work. Air conditioners are
set for indoor temperature between 24 to 26 degrees Celsius in
summer, with an aim to reduce electricity usage. In addition, the
Group has encouraged the installation of compact fluorescent light-
bulbs, T5 fluorescent lamps and light emitting diode ("LED").

The Group's total energy consumption and intensity have decreased
significantly during the Year due to the decrease in electricity
consumption since moving to a smaller Hong Kong office.
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During the Year, the Group'’s energy consumption mainly come from
electricity consumption at office. Purchased electricity is the main
source of indirect energy consumption. The energy consumption
performance is summarised below:
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FR - AERENERERIZRAMRAE
B INBENRERERERNIZNIR
RERUBRER IR T

Energy consumption HETRHFE

Indicators Unit 2024 2023
BiE B —E-pmE —E-=F
Direct energy consumption kKWh N/A 1,938.27
HEERERE T R B TEm

Indirect energy consumption (Note 1) kWh 22,819.21 31,252.65
AL IRERE (FYat 1) FEBF

Total energy consumption kKWh 22,819.21 33,190.92
HEELIRHFE T E&

Total energy consumption intensity kWh/m? 59.58 86.66

REEIRHRRE

Note 1: Indirect energy consumption represents electricity purchased from external
sources and consumed by the Group.

Water Management

Since the water supply and drainage facilities of our offices in the
PRC and Hong Kong are managed by the property management
company, the Group was unable to obtain water consumption data
in the Year.

Since the Group did not consume a significant amount of water, no
quantitative water efficiency targets were in place during the Year.
However, water efficiency initiatives have been promoted as the
Group has reminded its employees to check the water supply
equipment, keep the water tap off when not in use and arrange for
immediate repairs in case of leakage or other damages.

Due to the Group's operational location, there is no material issue in
sourcing water that is fit for its purpose.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group's business operation does not involve production
process, no packaging material is consumed by the Group.

TRE FIK
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The Environment and Natural Resources

Despite that there is no significant impact on the environment and
natural resources from the operations, the Group has formulated the
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the Environmental
Protection Management Measures for Offices to strive to reduce the
impact of its operations on the environment. The Group is dedicated
to providing employees a comfortable and green working
environment by cleaning the air-conditioning system including air
filters and air ducts regularly and selecting products with low or zero
volatile organic compounds emitted. Also, the Group encourages all
employees to participate in different kinds of recycling activities to
minimise the use of natural resources.

Climate Change

The Group recognises that climate change has been affecting the
Group's stakeholders, business operations and communities in
different aspects. The Group has formulated the Climate Change
Policy to enhance its ability to respond to climate impacts and
mitigate the risks and impacts of climate change on the Group,
thereby helping the Group to adapt to and resist climate change.
During the Year, the Group has been paying close attention to the
impact of climate change as described below.
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Physical risks

Extreme weather caused by climate change such as typhoons and
rainstorms may disrupt business operations in the short term. In
order to minimise disruptions to the Group's business operations,
the Group has put in place a set of contingency measures for
adverse weather conditions as well as appropriate back-up of
important information to minimise the negative impact on the
Group's business.

In addition to the above, the Group is also fully aware that extreme
weather conditions may endanger the health and safety of
employees. Therefore, the Group has formulated comprehensive
typhoon and rainstorm arrangements to protect the health and
safety of employees in extreme weather conditions. The Group also
takes into account the different situations faced by individual
employees under extreme weather conditions as far as possible,
such as residence, nearby roads and traffic conditions, and adopts
flexible treatment methods depending on the actual difficulties and
needs of employees. For example, the Group implements a flexible
off-duty day schedule for employees. At the same time, under
extreme weather conditions, the human resources department will
remind and notify employees of the latest weather conditions
through communication software or emails.

Transition risks

In terms of legal risks, the Group expects that the laws and
regulations related to climate change will become more stringent,
such as the possibility that local governments may adopt more
aggressive policies and measures to limit GHG emissions. As a result,
the Group may be exposed to legal risks and may have to incur
higher operating costs to comply with regulatory changes. The
Group has adopted a series of measures against possible legal risks.
The Group continuously monitors any changes in laws or regulations.
In addition, the Group has been taking comprehensive measures to
protect the environment, including measures aimed at reducing
GHG emissions. As the Group goes beyond compliance to strive to
improve the environmental performance of its operations, the Group
can quickly adapt to the more stringent regulations that may arise.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
ooz S AT S A
RIE g KERWE

ERER

F SR B2 (L | AR A Ao K SR, (51 40 e e, e %
) AIREEE A S E R &R T8 -
REENEEAKEXELEERNTE
AEEDFHIE - ERYBLIRABANER
it WHERERETEERD - UEE
BESAEEEBNEETZE -

B LB RS AEE TS BED - Sk
RRBAATGERBELETINRERRZ S
- AEEEHIEEmMRBR R FERTHE
UREBRHARIBEATETINRERRZ S
AREBTEAEEEDER B TERKRR
BRTEENTRBER - PlnEED - M
BERZBBERE  YREE THERKEH
NFE  KRBEEREE - flan - RN&EE
HETHEBBEANKIEEZH - A - E&
HMARBERT - ANEBREBFISBEEBAEK
HREFERFRELBNE THANRRE
Mo

L2 Bic): o
ERERME - AREEERRE(LE
RHDERNER BB S E RES - Plant Ty

BT A] BE & PR AN BB AR AT A0 BUER K HE R )R
EREBHN - Filt - AEE ARG HERAR
B - I AT RETR BEANEE B HEERANART
BEERY  AEECKRR—RIEREY
AIRERE R AR - ARERESAARIOX
MEVEAES - I AEE—BERRER
HIERERE - BREE R BERBIN
MG - AN AKREBBS RERNEZE
BORSELENRITRR - B AKER]
VAR 32 58 8 7] BE H 3R 0 BB AR VA AR ©

BFEHEERAT
ZEFERE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
ooz S AT S A
RIE g KERWE

SOCIAL
Employment

The Group has established a comprehensive human resources
management system which requires the employment of employees
based on their experience, qualifications, and knowledge during the
recruitment process. To ensure that the rights and interests of
employees are well protected, employment contracts must be
discussed and agreed with prospective employees regarding salaries,
benefits, annual leaves and other employment related issues, prior to
signing by the employees.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare. The relevant laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Promotion, Compensation, and Dismissal

Appraisals are regularly performed to consider promotions and salary
increments based on the results of the employees’ performance
reviews. Dismissals of employees have been performed in
compliance with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China. The relevant
provisions on termination of the employment are set out in the
employment contract of every staff.

Working Hours, Rest Periods, and Benefits

Both the offices in Hong Kong and Shenzhen are operated under a
five-day work week arrangement with statutory leaves provided such
as annual leaves, sick leaves, maternity leaves, in order to allow
employees to have adequate rest periods. The Group has also
provided medical allowance, MPF schemes (for Hong Kong
employees only) and other benefits to employees. For employees in
the PRC, the Group will pay for their “five social insurance and one
housing fund” including endowment insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity
insurance and Housing Provident Fund pursuant to the law in order
to safeguard the benefits of social insurance of employees.
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Equal Opportunities, Diversity, and Anti-discrimination FTERE  ZTERRER

The Group’s human resources policy states and their management REBZANERBEZARAEETIEEME
ensures that no discrimination exists within the Group in terms of R REBRFE - HR - BIRAKR - RE
age, sex, marital status, family status, sexuality, disability, nationality RS EERA - B EEEE - BEXTHET
or religion, etc. Any form of discrimination is prohibited during any EAEFEETAIEE - A eEE EEENE
of their decision-making processes, including normal operations and HERE 7 AR SR AR 25 | AR SR AR ©

any recruitment process.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 21 employees (including 4 RIE-WWFE=ZA=+—H  NEEBRKLE
Directors) (31 March 2023: 26 employees (including 4 Directors)), RANEEE(BH42ESR) (T ==
20 of them were full-time employees and 1 was part-time B=+—H:26%EE(BE4RESE))
employee ™7 The distribution of workforce classified by different HF20AREHES - 1 ARFEBEE W -
categories is as follows: BRTRERIEID 2 BEABSMINT :
By gender By age group
gkl RE AR

1(5%)

M Female m Male B Under 30 years old m30-50 years old 1 Over 50 years old
pogli S 30 AT 30BRE505% 508% LA
By location
Rt B

mPRC mHong Kong
hE A

Note 1: Employee data has excluded independent non-executive directors. Wi EEEECHRBYIERTES -

B7RRARAT
Sk
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During the Year, the Group's turnover rate is 13%. During the Year,

the Group's employee turnover rate is as follows:

FR - AREOBRBER13%  RFER - &K

SEMERRAZMT -

2024 2023
Employee turnover rate (Note 1) EBERKE(HaE1) —E-E —E=-=
By gender 1R 8o
Female I - 8%
Male S 22% 18%
By age group RERED
Under 30 years old 30BRIA T - -
30-50 years old 30 E505% 16% 20%
Over 50 years old 50BRA £ - -
By geographical region RiLEE D
PRC Y 17% 18%
Hong Kong B - -

Note 1: Calculation method of turnover rate (by category): (total number of departures
(by category) of that year + (total number of employees (by category) at the
beginning of the year + total number of employees (by category) at the end of
the year) +2) x 100

Health and Safety

The Group highly values employees’ health and safety and is always
committed to providing employees with a healthy, safe and
comfortable working environment. The Group strives to eliminate
potential workplace health and safety hazards and implement safety
management measures, such as providing employees with masks
during haze in the PRC, installing air purifiers at offices and providing
medicines for employees in case of sickness, to ensure employees’
health and safety during work. The Group has implemented the
Regulations for Management on Employee Safety and Health to
uphold its people-oriented principles and employees’ health and
safety.

To address the wellbeing of employees working in their offices, the
Group has established a set of health and safety management
practices to enhance their safety management and promote
employee safety awareness and, established safety measures, for
example, they will regularly send emails and relevant materials to
employees to advocate the importance of a safe working
environment.

During the Year, the number of working days lost by the Group due
to work-related injuries was zero (2023: zero). No work-related
fatalities occurred from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024, the rate of
work-related fatalities occurred was 0. The Group will continue to
strive to ensure the safety of its employees.
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards. The relevant laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases,
Provisions on the Administration of Occupational Health at
Workplaces of the PRC and Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Development and Training

The Group cares about employees’ development and encourages
them to participate in continuous learning through their career. The
Group has its tailor-made [T-related examination system for internal
employees of most of the departments. Apart from this, it has also
provided training courses to employees or subsidised them in
joining external training courses organised by professional bodies.
The Group has established the Company Employee Training
Management Measures to standardise and promote the continuous
and effective provision of training to employees. A training plan is
developed by the management based on the requirements from
various departments and employees. On the other hand, learning
experiences will also be provided to employees through job
allocation, improvements in soft skills will also benefit employees in
their career development in the long run.
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During the Year, the Group's employees received a total of 85 hours
of training (2023: 126 hours). The percentage of trained employees
and average training hours completed per employee of the Group
by category are as follows:
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RER > REBREIHEX S H5 /MR (=
T =5 126/ ) IBFI - AEERERIE
DEOERZEINETAS R TFHEMET
E e M IR T -

2024 2023
Percentage of employees trained (Note 1)  ESIZHINETED L (FzE1) —E_pE —E-=
By gender BRI D
Female g 44% 36%
Male E5] i 33% 40%
By employee category RETERE S
Executive directors WITES 75% 100%
Management EIRfE 100% 100%
General staff —fRET 8% 6%
2024 2023
Average number of training hours for EIFHEwRREIIRE —E_ME —=EB=-=
employees (Note 2) (Ktat2)
By gender R R &2
Female N 6.00 491
Male B 258 4.80
By employee category RETIERES
Executive directors WITES 6.75 13.00
Management == 12.00 12.80
General staff —MET 0.77 0.59

Note 1: Calculation method of percentage of employees trained by category: (number
of employees trained in that category + total number of employees in that
category at the end of the year) x 100%. Training data of directors include those
from executive directors.

Note 2: Calculation method of training hours by category: total training hours of
employees in that category + number of employees in that category at the end
of the year. Training data of directors include those from executive directors.

Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the
Group. During the Year, the Group has strictly complied with all
respective laws and regulations regarding the employment of child
labour and forced labour. Further, clauses regarding the prevention
of child labour and forced labour were included in the Employee
Handbook and human resources policies.
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Personal data is collected during the employment process to select
suitable candidates and verify candidates’ data. The identity
documents such as physical examination certificates, academic
credentials, identity cards, and account information are carefully
checked in the recruitment process. Furthermore, employees of the
Group working overtime are based on voluntary principles so as to
avoid the violation of labour standards and safeguard the rights and
interests of employees. To prevent any form of forced labour, a job
description outlining the principal responsibilities of the employee is
attached to the labour contract. The Group also prohibits any
punitive measures, management methods and behaviours such as
abusive punishment, violence, mental stress, sexual harassment
(including inappropriate language, posture and physical contact) for
any reason.

If child labor or forced labor is found to be employed as a result of a
breach of the requirements under the Employee Handbook and
human resources policies, the Group will immediately stop the work
of such child labour or forced labour and conduct investigation.

Each department of the Group has designated personnel responsible
for regularly tracking and understanding the updates of regulations,
and will notify the affected departments in real time to comply with
the latest laws and regulations, and to fully implement the
compliance principle. During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to the prevention of child and forced labour. The relevant
laws and regulations include, but are not limited to, the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong and the Employment of Children Regulations of Hong
Kong.

Supply Chain Management

During the operations, the Group encourages its suppliers and
business partners to uphold high moral standards that are in line
with the Group. Therefore, the Group has adopted the Supplier Code
of Conduct, which outlines the sustainability standards and practices
that the Group expects its business partners and suppliers to comply
with. Its partners are all worldwide reputable companies and known
for their ethical standards. In selecting and evaluating its suppliers
and business partners, their attitudes towards environmental and
social issues, including human rights, equal opportunities were also
considered. During the Year, there were a total of 4 major suppliers
and all of the major suppliers were located in the PRC.
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The Group strictly follows the procurement procedures to evaluate
the business practices of its suppliers. In the procurement process,
suppliers are assessed based on price, reputation, track record,
initiative to tackle problems, customer service and product and
service quality. During the Year, all major suppliers were qualified
suppliers that met the standards in the Group's regular evaluation
(2023: all major suppliers) . If the Group discovers any violation of the
code by its business partners or suppliers, the Group will try to
communicate with them to rectify the situation.

Environmental and Social Risks Management

The Group requires environmentally friendly practices on its
suppliers and business partners. For example, it required its business
partners to be certified with the ISO14001 or GB/T24001 or other
related environmental management system certifications. During
the supplier and business partner selection processes, it considers
environmental protection as one of the key assessment criteria and
expects the potential impact on the environment to be minimised
during normal operations by its suppliers and business partners. The
Group has also set up health and safety requirements for its suppliers
and business partners, for example, business partners have to be
certified with OHSAS18001 or GB/T28001 or other related
occupational health and safety management system certifications.
The Group regularly reviews the compliance of its supplier
candidates with laws and regulations, including those related to the
environment and society. If the suppliers fail to properly control their
environmental and social risks, they may not be retained in the
Group's list of approved suppliers.

The Group continues to pay attention to the policies implemented
by the local governments where it operates. If the Group finds
information on environmentally friendly products or services
published by the official authorities, the Group will seriously consider
adopting the recommendations of the official authorities to procure
goods and services that have less impact on the environment during
the product cycle. The Group closely monitors the environmental
impacts of its suppliers and explore improvement potential to
further optimise its supplier management practices.
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Product Responsibility

The Group has continuously paid considerable attention to brand
effect and product quality. Besides setting high requirements for its
suppliers and business partners during its selection phases, the
Group has also emphasised product quality improvements, provided
after-sales services to its customers, and has continuously worked
closely with its customers and business partners to solve problems.
The Group has adopted the Shipment and Return Management
System to standardize the Group'’s shipment and return procedures
to ensure the fulfilment of sales contracts.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress. The relevant laws and
regulations include, but are not limited to, the Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests, the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Trade Marks Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Quality Management

Achieving and maintaining high-quality standards for projects is of
utmost importance for sustainable development of the Group. In
order to ensure that the Group delivers high-quality services and
sustainable projects to its customers, the process of the projects is
controlled and monitored regularly. By conducting a series of tests,
actual results are compared with the expected results, so as to
identify any abnormalities and areas for improvement and strive for
excellence. The Group ensures that each customer’s needs are met
and that the standard and outcome of every product are consistent.
During the Year, no recalls of products had taken place.

The Group carefully manages and monitors the quality of products.
All products the Group sells are properly labelled to help the Group
to keep track of its products. If there are quality issues with the
products sold by the Group, the Group can use the label tracking
system to promptly identify the source of defects and the defective
batch of products. When necessary, the products will be recalled to
rectify the issues and prevent recurrence in the future.
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Customer Service

The Group continuously improves the quality of its products and
services. If a complaint should arise, the Group will immediately
assess the complaint and conduct an internal investigation into the
matter to identify the source of the issue. If customers are not
satisfied with the quality of products and services or have safety
concerns about products and services, the Group will arrange
sufficient channels and personnel to communicate with customers
in a timely manner and solve the problems as soon as possible.
During the Year, the Group did not receive any complaints from
customers due to product quality or customer service quality (2023:
nil).

Privacy and Intellectual Property Protection

As a responsible service provider, all confidential data related to the
Group's business, financial and customer information are securely
protected and only used for internal purposes. Besides,
confidentiality agreements must be signed between the Group and
its suppliers and business partners to protect customers’ data and
privacy. Employees are trained to maintain the confidentiality of
customers’ information.

Regarding the Group’s trademarks, terms in relation to such
intellectual property rights are included in the cooperation
agreements between the Group and its suppliers and business
partners. The Group recognises the importance of intellectual
property protection, so it is dedicated to protecting and enforcing
the Group's own IP rights as well as the IP rights of third party.

The Group regularly reviews the effectiveness of the confidentiality
agreements and the terms in relation to intellectual property rights
to evaluate whether any pattern of improprieties or alleged
improprieties exist that need to be addressed.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations including the
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China and continues to
strengthen fair marketing practices. The Group has regulated the
conduct of marketing personnel in the process of advertisement
release, product sales and contract signing, strictly prohibiting the
dissemination of misleading and ambiguous product information
and excessive commitment, and protecting customers’ information
rights.
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Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to prohibiting any form of corruption such
as bribery, money laundering, extortion, and fraud. As stipulated in
the Employee Handbook, all employees are required to uphold
business integrity, safequard confidential information and take
reasonable steps to avoid any conflict of interest. The Group believes
that its employees, suppliers, and business partners have maintained
a strong ethical conduct during regular business.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any incidents of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in relation to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. The relevant laws
and regulations include, but are not limited to, the People’s Republic
of China Criminal Law, Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong.

There was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group's issuer or its employees during the Year.

Corporate Governance

The Group realises the importance of internal control to a zero-
corruption company culture. Information on preventing conflict of
interest is included in the Employee Handbook of the Group and
was distributed to all employees to follow. Besides, during every
tendering process, an Integrity Agreement must be signed by both
the Group and the suppliers or business partners. The Group has
ensured that all relevant parties will act in accordance with its
requirements on anti-corruption in order to prevent any bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering during the operation.

As stated in the Employee Handbook, employees should not have a
financial or other personal interest in a transaction between the
Group and any of its business units and a vendor, supplier, provider
or customer in order to avoid conflict of interest. Employees are
required to declare situation which may present a conflict of interest
to their supervisors and the Board will be notified.
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The Group is committed to raising employees’” awareness through
providing training on ethical conduct and anti-corruption to all
employees and the directors of the Group. The Group will increase
the frequency of anti-corruption training when more resources are

available in the future.

In addition, the Group has formulated a whistleblowing mechanism
that allows all employees to report on any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices, or irregularities to the Board, a
responsible director or the audit committee. Reports and complaints
received will be handled in a prompt and fair manner. Such
mechanism also aims at protecting whistle-blowers from unfair

dismissal, victimisation and unwarranted disciplinary actions.

To monitor the effectiveness of the whistleblowing mechanism, the
Group reviews all complaints received regularly and conducts
investigations if any pattern of improprieties or alleged improprieties

exist that need to be addressed.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible corporate, the Group is committed to
serving the communities where it operates. The Group recognises
the importance of the welling-being of the local communities to the
continuous growth of its business. Therefore, the Group follows its
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy to encourage its employees to
take part in a wide range of community activities. The Group believes
that by participating in community activities, the Group can increase

employees’ awareness of citizenship and build positive value.

During the Year, the Group did not contribute resources to make
community investment. However, the Group has actively considered

spending money or time to benefit the community in the future.
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A. Environmental
A RIT
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA: HHY
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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per facility).
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Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
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Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
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Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
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Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
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KPI A2.4
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KPIA2.5
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Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.
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Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in
total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
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Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
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Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
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Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is it for purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
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Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
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Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
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KPIA3.1

RIS AEAURIR A3

Aspect A4: Climate Change
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—RE
KPI A4.1
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Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and
natural resources.
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Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
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Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
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those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
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TEHE - BEH - —REER
HRANES b 589
B. Social
B.4#E
Aspect B1: Employment
EEBI : B
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
— MR EE BRHM e  BMERE  THESE BRE TEKE St ER
R AR A R KAt 45538 R AR MY -
@ BE: &
b) BTHETAREATENEEERAROIMER -
KPIB1.1 Tota\ workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-time), ~ Employment — Equal

RIS AUEIRBI

KPIB1.2
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age group and geographical region.
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Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.
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Section/Statement
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: REHEZE
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
—MRIKEE FRRRZETHERENREEEREBEMEEN BERLZE
@ BE: X
BITHETARBEATENRMERLROINER -
KPIB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three  Health and Safety
years including the reporting year.
FRRAE MR IR B2 BE=F (BRERFRE)BFRITHMABRLE - BRERLZE
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
FRERIEEB22 ATGEEATIERE - BERZE
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they  Health and Safety
are implemented and monitored.
FRSRAE MIE1RB23 MR B R RFERL2HE - AREBRTRERENE - BEEZZ

Aspect B3: Development and Training
EEB3 : BEREI
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at  Development and Training

work. Description of training activities.

Note:  Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the
employer.

— MR ARRITEE BT TIERE M AB KRR - fsE g E - R KIE
Hist: BAIEBER - TR REREE N EROAIDRE o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.

senior management, middle management).

Development and Training
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L e
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee  Development and Training
category.
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Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : %5 TR
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—MRIKEE AR FE TR %% T - B ITER|
@ BE: K
b) BTHEITABEATENEBERLRPINER -
KPI B4.1 Descr|pt|on of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and  Labour Standards
forced labour.
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KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Labour Standards
FASRAE M IE1RBA2 WA ERERIENTERABEBRMRRN TR B IER|
Aspect B5: Supply Chain management
[EEB5 : HEEERE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Supply Chain Management
— MR BERHEENRE R GRERBE - HERE R
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
RS AR MIE1R 85,1 miRE S HERSE - fHERER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers  Supply Chain Management
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
RIS AR IE1RB5.2 A AREREEENEN  MERTAREEINRERRE - URE HERERE
HEDINRTRERE -
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along  Supply Chain Management
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. — Environmental and Social
Risks Management
FRERIERB53 AR RERSERGORERMERROEN - URBBHT HEREE —RER
REEEAE o HemkER
KPIB5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products  Supply Chain Management

RSB IEIR BS54

and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

EEB6 : EmEAE

General Disclosure Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating

to products and services provided and methods of redress.

—MRIKEE FAMRMERNRENRREZ2  BS  SEIMEBEEAREBR
JER) -
) BOR K

ETHETAREAYENRBERRRDINER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.

MR B U 1R BE.1 PERCEXERERTAT 2 BERIEAMACNNNAEDLL -

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are

dealt with.

RSB AR 1R B2 REMNEMKREMNRFRE AREHITE

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

FRERIEEB63 fi i R o o (R A E R A AR IE D) -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

FREMIE1RB6A B BT BIE M E MBI FF

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are

implemented and monitored.
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Product Responsibility
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Product Responsibility

— Quality Management
EmBEE—EEER
Product Responsibility

— Customer Service
EnEE— BEPR%
Product Responsibility

— Privacy and Intellectual
Property Protection
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Product Responsibility

— Quality Management
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
TESER BEH —REER
HRERES

e

Description

i

Section/Statement

B BH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EmB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI B7.1

PSR 1R B0

KPIB7.2

R E N IEIER72
KPIB7.3

RIR B RUER B3

Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BRADILEBE - $R - BEFROARER -
@ BE: K&
b) BTHEITABEATENEBERLRPINER -
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of

the cases.
FE%%W%%GA&EEE%&ﬁE%%W SRR MEE KK
IAER o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
WA R RET - URBBRTRER X

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

HlRES K8 TRENRESE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : HERE
General Disclosure
—RH R

KPI B8.1

RABRAUIER BR
KPIB8.2

BR B UIEIE RS2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
ﬁ@uﬁE/AXT%%ﬁA BTEHEERE
BALEFIZ B BUR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour

MERAXBIHEE

needs, health, culture, sport).
ETEREE (NS5  BEEE SIHEXR @BF - b 8BE) -
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIHEMHAER(MEEIHRE) -
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi (EBEF 5t 4£) (‘Mr. Wang'), aged 45, was appointed as
an executive Director on 17 March 2015 and was re-elected on 3 August
2015, 1 August 2017, 30 July 2018, 5 August 2020 and 1 August 2022,
respectively, and a director of six subsidiaries within the Group. He was a
business manager of Guangzhou YBDS IT Co,, Ltd.* (/& IE{E B RHTAE
R 2 7)) (“Guangzhou YBDS"), the then indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, from May 2014 to March 2022, where Guangzhou YBDS
was disposed of to an independent third party in September 2023. He has
over 15 years of working experience in the telecommunication industry in
China. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang was the deputy general
manager of Hua Strong Network Science and Technology Limited
Company* CEXBHK B ABR2AF]) and Beijing Huaqgin World
Technology Limited Company* (3t R E) Rt BHE BR A 7)), both of
which were former indirect subsidiary of the Company, from 2000 to 2014.
Mr. Wang resigned from both companies in April 2014. He obtained a
bachelor's degree from Beijing University of Technology (1t 5 T 2 K £2)
in Computer Controls and Applications. As at the date of this report, Mr.
Wang is interested in 382,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 0.028% of the total number of ordinary shares
in issue of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not have
any interest in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO"). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not hold any other
position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any
directorship in any public companies the securities of which are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years, nor
does he hold any other major appointments and professional
qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Mr. Ho Yeung (A3 55 4 ) ('Mr. Ho"), aged 69, was appointed as an executive
Director on 1 June 2017 and was re-elected on 1 August 2017, 5
September 2019 and 1 August 2022, respectively. Since 1999, Mr. Ho has
been a senior executive at a leading high-tech software company in China
and has held the post of executive director of a renowned real estate
company in China for more than ten years. Since 1994, Mr. Ho has been on
the board of members of the council at the China Association for the
Promotion of Investment. Mr. Ho was an independent non-executive
director of China Gas Holdings Limited (stock code: 384), a company listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
from 12 December 2012 to 27 November 2017. As at the date of this report,
Mr. Ho is interested in 18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares
in issue of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not have
any interest in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not hold any other position
in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any
directorship in any public companies the securities of which are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years, nor
does he hold any other major appointments and professional
qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Ms. Ho Ching (f fE 2 ) (“Ms. Ho"), aged 31, was appointed as an
executive Director on 18 June 2021 and was re-elected on 2 August 2021.
She obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration in Humphreys
College (now known as Humphreys University), California, the United States
of America in December 2014. Ms. Ho has been working as a representative
of Canfield Securities Company Limited since April 2019. She served as an
Investment Consultant of Convoy Financial Group Limited from March
2017 to March 2019. Ms. Ho is a representative licensed under the SFO to
carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activities. She has been
appointed as a manager of Excellent Master Investments Limited, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since 1 April 2024. Save as
disclosed above, Ms. Ho does not hold any other position in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years nor does she hold any other
major appointments and professional qualifications. Save as disclosed
above, Ms. Ho is not connected with any Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Ms.
Ho does not have any interest in the shares of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (#{ F ¥ 5t £ ) (‘Mr. Tse"), aged 54, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 15 May 2014, and was re-
elected on 23 June 2014, 1 August 2017, 5 September 2019, 2 August 2021
and 1 August 2023, respectively. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree
with honors in Finance and Accounting from University of Salford, the
United Kingdom and a degree in Executive Master of Business
Administration from Richard Ivey School of Business, The University of
Western Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tse is a member of each of lllinois Certified
Public Accountants Society, American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, Institute of Accountants Exchange, Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute and Hong Kong Securities Professionals Association.
Mr. Tse is also an associate member of The Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants of the United Kingdom and Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse has over 20 years of
experience in corporate finance and accounting and has worked for several
international accounting firms, investment banks and the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Tse is currently a managing director of corporate finance department in
Essence Corporate Finance (Hong Kong) Limited and acts as its principal
under the sponsor regime. Mr. Tse was a non-executive director of Century
Energy International Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Oil
Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited and Fairson Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 8132) from 10 January 2014 to 30 April 2015. Mr. Tse was also
a non-executive director of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8147) from 6 October 2014 to 17 July 2017. Mr. Tse is a
responsible officer licensed under the SFO to carry on Type 1 (dealing in
securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities.
Mr. Tse does not have any interests in the shares of the Company within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse does
not hold any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
does not hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last three years, nor does he hold any other major appointments and
professional qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse is not
connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.

BYKHITES

HEEHAE([@MEE]D) 545 RZE—NFH
ATHBEZERBIIENTES  UH RN
E-—NWEXAZ+=B —ZE—+tFENA—H"

—E-AFAARR - ZE-—FN\AZBA K=
T—FNA—HERET - HAEERBAFRER
REEAE NG ELEREETEMR
IMERALZABEAERES .. VEBEIR Z1TTHRA
BTEEBELTEAM - HED B AF M
HESTMBe  EHEAMSHIBE 552
FATEERERAHE BEBAFAREREEBEGRES
BHEGNEE - HWILEENARBRSTEESS

MAERBEBSHMATHNEE - HAEERNDE
BMERGHAABAEO0TLR  TEARRS
MBS aTarT - A RITREEFT - B ER
BEERE (BB BRAFIZLXBEETSRE
LENABERBAGEBEA RZZ—WOF—
A+HE=-_Z—RAFWNA=1+H #HEEETT
BEEI PR AR IE AR B PR A A (AT B H m B MR pe R &
BEIER AR A B R AR A ) (BRMH R
8I2) MIEANITEF - HLENR T —NF +
ARNBEZZE—+F A +tBEFEERKEF
SEERERAR (BRMDAIR : 8147) WIEHITE
FoWEEDRBESFLHEGATTETE 1A
(BHERF)RFoHE (BHERERHER)ZR
BERPNFBEEE AL - WL AETENARD B
NHBEEBLF LB GO EXVEFRAE 2 ER
B o B EXXHBEEIN  SAERNBE=-FIE
RARBSHETMHERREE T EBA -

MEEZBLHRBEAIEIMEMBESEM S LT E
MARABEAEMNEERY - AW EEMEM
FEADREEER R EUFEREI - BEE
HARNRAERNES FAETEE TE2RERE
1% f R AL fR (T frT 5 o

BFEHEERAT
ZEFERE



Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EELANEEECERE

Mr. Lau Chor Ki (12 35 £ 4 ) (‘Mr. Lau”), aged 71, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 June 2017, and was re-elected
on 1 August 2017, 30 July 2018, 5 August 2020 and 1 August 2022,
respectively. Mr. Lau holds a diploma in Management from Hong Kong
Polytechnic (awarded jointly by the Hong Kong Management Association),
a certificate programme on writing precisely what you mean from the
Hong Kong Management Association, a certificate of Practice in Chinese
Property Laws — a distance learning certificate programme from the Hong
Kong Management Association. Mr. Lau joined in Hang Seng Bank group
(stock code: 00011) and had served in the group for 40 years from 1973 to
2013. During this period, Mr. Lau worked in various departments including
retail banking, loans department, credit control and administration. Also, he
was a department head monitoring the central cash of the bank when
retired in May 2013. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau does not hold any
other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold
any directorship in any public companies the securities of which are listed
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years,
nor does he hold any other major appointments and professional
qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau does not have any interests in the
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (EZ2E 5 4) ('Mr. Wong"), aged 71, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 3 April 2018, and was re-
elected on 30 July 2018, 2 August 2021 and 1 August 2023, respectively.
Mr. Wong graduated from Columbia Radio Institute (B} #RLL an #E4R T8 T 72
Q) majoring in radio engineering in 1978. Mr. Wong has been working
for Mitsubishi Electric Hong Kong Group Ltd (ZZH & AR A 7))
(formerly known as Ryoden Electric Engineering Co,, Ltd ZEE T2 BR A
A])) from 1970 to 2010. He has been responsible for the aforesaid
company’s China business since 1983. He was the key responsible person
for its subsidiary established in China, his last position was a supervisor of
the executive department and was mainly responsible for its elevator
business. Mr. Wong is currently a director of Jinxiong Plastic Industry Co.,
Ltd.x ERHE(ER) T E AR A F]) and an executive director of Shenzhen
Sanli Mechanical and Electrical Equipment Engineering Co., Ltd.* (&I
= FIHLEE SR T2 BBR A 7)), both are agents for electrical products of
Changzhou Sanli Electrics Company* (& T =& 832 7). Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Wong does not hold any other position in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in
any public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years, nor does he hold
any other major appointments and professional qualifications. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Wong is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Wong does not have any interests in the shares of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors
ESEWES

The directors (the “Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the
“Company’) submit herewith the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the "Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the "Reporting
Period").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to
the Group's consolidated financial statements.

During the Reporting Period, the Group focused to strengthen its business
development in the areas of trading of high-tech software and hardware
equipment; developing and establishing payment platforms to provide
mobile payment services and value-added services; setting up joint
ventures with multinational companies to, among others, introduce and
procure mobile application services and providing short messaging
services for businesses. Save for the provision of short messaging services
for businesses, there were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the Reporting Period.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and operating segments for the
Reporting Period is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group's
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out
on pages 6 to 18 of this annual report. Such discussion forms part of this
Directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 97.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 88. Such summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 100 and note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company's reserve
available for distribution to shareholders (comprising share premium)
amounted to approximately HK$101,852,000.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

To the best knowledge of the Group, employees, customers and business
partners are the key to continuous sustainable development. We commit
to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with employees, and
work together with our business partners to provide high quality products
and services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and
contribution to the society.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group paid close attention to environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and to
undertake relative social responsibility.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAW AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the board (the “Board”) of Directors and management are aware,
the Group has complied with all related laws and regulations in all material
aspects which may have significant impact on the operation of the Group.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi

Mr. Ho Yeung

Ms. Ho Ching

Mr. Cai Dan (resigned on 31 May 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
Mr. Lau Chor Ki
Mr. Wong Kin Kee

Pursuant to Articles 84(1) of the articles of association of the Company, Ms.
Ho Ching and Mr. Lau Chor Ki shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible to, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARIES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, Mr. Wang
Xiaoqi is a director of the Company’s subsidiaries. The other director of the
Company's subsidiaries during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report is Mr. Li Kwan Shing.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, the Company has entered into a letter of
appointment with each of the current independent non-executive
Directors, namely, (a) Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony for a term of three years
commencing from 17 May 2022; (b) Mr. Lau Chor Ki for a term of three
years commencing from 1 June 2023; and (c) Mr. Wong Kin Kee for a term
of three years commencing from 3 April 2024, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang Xiaogi will be
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience, duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2023, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Ms. Ho Ching presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Ms. Ho Ching will be
determined with reference to her qualifications, experience, duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Report of the Directors
ESEWES

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 75 to 78.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) with reference to their
relevant qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities in the Group
and prevailing market conditions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in November 2005 and the
Company had adopted revised specific terms of reference on (i) 4
December 2013 in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the requirements under the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules; and (ii) 15 December 2022 to
be in line with, among other matters, Rule 23.07A of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr.
Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee made recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and/or senior
management.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which any of the
Company's holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or a connected entity of the Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any
time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, at no time during the
Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, (i) Mr. Wang Xiaogi was interested in 382,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.028% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue; and (ii) Mr. Ho Yeung
was interested in 18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares of the
Company in issue. Save as disclosed above, none of the other Directors or
their respective associates and the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFQ")) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of
dealing by directors of listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as the Directors were aware of and having
made due enquires, the following persons had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO
and/or were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any other members of the Group:
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Number of percentage of issued
issued ordinary share capital as at

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held 31 March 2024
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(Note 2) (Note 3)
(Hrat2) (Ht5t3)

Happy On Holdings Limited ("Happy On”) (Note 1) Beneficial owner 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%

Happy On Holdings Limited ([Happy On ) (Af5t1)  EzmBEEA

Mr. Chan Foo Wing (“Mr. Chan”) (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%

REREE(REE]D (M) R LB ER
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Notes:

1. As Mr. Chan is the ultimate beneficial owner and the sole director of Happy On, by virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested in those 987,888,771 shares held by
Happy On.

2. “L" means long position in the shares of the Company.

3. Based on 1,356,250,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, there was no other persons
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had any
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the Reporting Period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the largest and the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 66% and 100% of the Group's total
purchases, respectively. Sales to the largest and the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 68% and 100% of the Group's
total sales, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competed with
or might compete with the business of the Group.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as required under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
there was or is any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the
benefit of any Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or
of its associated company (made by the Company).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme’) registered under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$ 1,500 per month, to
the MPF Scheme, in which the contribution is matched by employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries in the PRC
are required to contribute to a state-managed retirement plan for all its
employees at a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its employees.
The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to all retired employees. Under the state-managed
retirement plan, the Group has no further obligations for the actual
pension payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions.

The amounts of contributions and details of the Group’s defined
contribution retirement scheme are set out in notes 12, 13 and 31 to the
Group's consolidated financial statements. No forfeited contributions are
available to reduce the contribution payable by the Group in future years.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not enter into any connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting
Period, which did not constitute connected transactions under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules, are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference as of 10 January 2019 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to
5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At present, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Kiand Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the Audit
Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the corporate governance report on pages 19 to 40 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, the financial statements of
the Company had been audited by Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai
Limited ("Prism") whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting. A resolution to re-appoint Prism as the auditors of
the Company will be proposed to the shareholders of the Company for
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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Summary Financial Information

MG ENME

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non- ~ AEBBEAFEMBRFEZEABEBEAREE
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as BERIFLEREZR B EEERTBEHRER) 2

extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out below: BEWMT
FINANCIAL SUMMARY MBREE
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE-_Z-_MFEF=ZA=+—HILFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EoNE —E-=F —FT—-— - —EETF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET FHET FHET FHETT
RESULTS E
Revenue Wz 16,152 18,290 32,800 41,242 26,556
Profit/(loss) before taxation ~ BREL AT F, (E518) 5,898 (16,340) (21,920) 6,345 (33,225)
Income tax credit gk e - - 5 15 606
Profit/(loss) for the year FRmH(EE) 5,898 (16,840) (21,915) 6,360 (32,619)
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIE RSN 6,604 (10,108) (18,189) 16,703 (26,710)
Non-controlling interests AR = (706) (6,732) (3,726) (10,343) (5,909)
5,898 (16,840) (21,915) 6,360 (32,619)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ER A&
Total assets mEE 15,721 34,633 58,207 62,017 89,277
Total liabilities FEN=Er (17,402) (48,006) (54,956) (37,125) (98,718)
(1,681) (13373) 3,251 24,892 (9,441)
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the Company PAN/NEIET ZSDN 11,924 246 10,707 28413 11,892
Non-controlling interests ~ 3F{% i #E 2 (13,605) (13,619) (7,456) (3,521) (21,333)
(1,681) (13373) 3,251 24,892 (9,441)
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QUANTUM THINKING LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Quantum
Thinking Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 97 to 192, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policies information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322

www.prism.com.hk
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
concerning the adoption of the going concern basis on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared. The Group had net
liabilities of approximately HK$1,681,000 as at that date. These conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
The Directors, having considered the measures being taken by the Group,
are of the opinion that the Group would be able to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322

www.prism.com.hk

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2024

HEEECEHENERTHBERE

RMRBIEFEAVBRENIIAERNGE
CEEERHGRAMBHRE - EEERZAN
BEFELH1681,0008TT c xS BNERLE
W RAWAITENEMEEARGFEEAN
AR = 28y ESEERBECENENE
REAE S - BERLEE BEBERIMMNEGE
RhE BEEBEBENBESCE BATSRESE
BEERER °

FARETEE
FRESFEHERERMNERHE  RREAN
PRAMBHRANEARSEENFTH GLF
AeERMNEFBREAVBHRRALLARRE
EITRIEN - P TEHELETHRHERNE
E—‘ o



Independent Auditor’s Report
BN Z B S =

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

The key audit matter
HRESEE

BRARETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RANBTNIEERREETER

Loss allowance on trade and other receivables and contract assets

Refer to notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies from pages 171 to 175.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the Group's trade
and other receivables and contract assets are approximately
HKS$7,286,000, HKS$ 3,143,000 and HK$188,000 respectively, net of
accumulated loss allowance on trade and other receivables and
contract assets are approximately HK$1,212,000, HKS$1,113,000
and HK$51,000 respectively.

Management applied judgment in assessing the expected credit
losses ("ECL") receivables relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection of
receivables which are assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance. ECL are also estimated by recoverability of
the trade receivables and the sufficiency of allowance for ECL
based on information including credit profile of different
customers, aging of the trade and other receivables, historical
settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and
on-going trading relationship with the relevant customers.
Management also considered forward-looking information that
may impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balance in order to estimate the ECL.

We have identified the loss allowance on trade and other
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter because the
amount is significant to the consolidated financial statements as
a whole and there is involvement of a significant degree of
management’s judgements and estimates involved in assessing
the ECL model, based on the historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information specific to the debtors and their
economic environments.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322

www.prism.com.hk

Our audit procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment of the ECL model adopted for the loss allowance on
trade and other receivables and contract assets.

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology used,
its development processes and relevant controls adopted by the
management of the Group in the ECL model.

We have assessed and challenged the reasonableness of
assumptions and judgements made by the management of the
Group on the ECL model adopted, parameters selected and the
internal credit rating used. We have also examined the key data
used in the ECL model on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and reasonableness.

We have assessed the competency , objectivity and
independence of the external valuer used by management and
discussed with external valuer their scope of work, and assessed
the appropriateness of the valuation methodology.

We have checked mathematical accuracy of the calculation of
provision for loss allowance.

We have assessed the adequacy of the disclosure of the financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

The key audit matter
HRESEE

BRARETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN AZB R EE

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN AZB R EE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
alsor

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN AZB R EE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group'’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the Group's financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN Z B S =

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Fan Chi Hang Stephen.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fan Chi Hang Stephen

Practising Certificate Number: P06144

Hong Kong
21 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-ImF —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HKS'000
B 5E FTET FHIT
Revenue Wz 7 16,152 18,290
Cost of sales B AR (15,391) (16,470)
Gross profit EF 761 1,820
Other income H AW A 8 1,412 1,593
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE R B ARk 26 19,286
Distribution costs A SERAR (89) (48)
Administrative expenses TR (13,928) (18,812)
Impairment loss on financial assets TREENRESE (1,066) (427)
Finance costs i%sER 9 (478) (966)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRBADRER (1) 5,898 (16,840)
Income tax expenses Frie R 10 = -
Profit/(loss) for the year FRBEF (B 11 5,898 (16,840)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributableto: LA T A T EIEERER,
(B#E) :
Owners of the Company PAN/NEIEZ FS N 6,604 (10,108)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR A (706) (6,732)
5,898 (16,840)
Other comprehensive income Hia 2wk
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to  EH1Z AJ s BH » HE = 1875
profit or loss #7IH B
Exchange differences arising on translation B mERBIIEEERE
of financial statements from functional REJNEBEED
currency to presentation currency PE 3 =5 1,182 216
Other comprehensive income for FRHEMEERE
the year 1,182 216
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FREZEWE (FX) B
for the year 7,080 (16,624)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) U T ATEEFEFREZE
for the year attributable to: Wz (BAXR) 45
Owners of the Company PA/NESIET ZSDN 7,066 (10,461)
Non-controlling interests IR A 14 (6,163)
7,080 (16,624)
Profit/(loss) per share attributable to ARABHEEAEML
the owners of the Company BREFR (&8
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR (B 15 0.49 (0.75)
ETRHEBRAR

T NFERE



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR FBAORR

Asat31March2024 R-ZE-_WNF=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
M e F&ET FET
Non-current assets kREBEE
Plant and equipment R = K 2 16 272 345
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 697 1,631
Intangible assets mEE 18 - 1
Goodwill Bk 19 = -
Total non-current assets IRBEELE 969 1977
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E b IE 20 11,770 20,105
Contract assets BHEBE 21 188 246
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFABRRZD
profit or loss THREE 22 52 8,210
Bank balances and cash RITERNIE® 23 2,742 3,493
14,752 32,054
Assets classified as held for sale NEAGHERE 27 - 602
Total current assets REBEEHAE 14,752 32,656
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables E 5 Kk EMEMNFIE 24 16,663 20,760
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 724 790
Financial liabilities at fair value BERAFEFABEDN
through profit or loss TRIBE 25 - -
Income tax payable FETERIS TR 15 16
17,402 21,566
Liabilities associated with assets HAOBAFHEEE
classified as held for sale ﬁ EraE 27 = 25,629
Total current liabilities BWREEE 17,402 47,195
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (2,650) (14,539)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAEE (1,681) (12,562)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 17 = 811
Net liabilities E8EFE (1,681) (13,373)
Equity =
Share capital &z 29 135,625 135,625
Reserves G (123,701) (135,379)
Equity attributable to owners of the EATREEAEGER
Company 11,924 246
Non-controlling interests FEE i = (13,605) (13,619)
Capital deficiency BARE 4 (1,681) (13,373)

Quantum Thinking Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fre MR

Asat31 March2024 R-Z-_WME=A=+—H

The consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to 192 were approved 97 ZE 1N HEGEANBHRREEETSRN T _IY
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 June 2024 and are  F/xA Z+—HHLERIKERE - YR TNHESF

signed on its behalf by: REEE
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Ching
EX:-$5 fAIE
Director Director
BF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANRER AEL
Non-
Share Share  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve losses Total interests Total
TS R4 EE RBRE 2ER A FERED B
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET TR THET THET
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FWNA-H 135,625 99,935 (5,500) (229,814) 246 (13,619) (13,373)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF/(E8) - - - 6,604 6,604 (706) 5,898
Other comprehensiveincome  E A 24 A
Exchange differences arisingon B S{R MM E
translating of financial BERZIIEYK
statements from functional EENELEZE
currency to presentation
currency - - 462 - 462 720 1,182
Total comprehensiveincome FRZHK B
for the year - - 462 6,604 7,066 14 7,080
135,625 99,935 (5,038) (223,210) 7,312 (13,605) (6,293)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 26) 1 & — R Hi{ B2 7]
(K3t 26) - - 4,612 - 4,612 - 4,612
At 31 March 2024 R-B-Rm&
=ZRA=+-H 135,625 99,935 (426) (223,210) 11,924 (13,605) (1,681)
Attributable to owners of the Company
KRAREE NEHG
Non-
Share Share Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve losses Total interests Total
e B SIREE ZiER mE FERER Fok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-_Z_FMA-H 135,625 99,935 (5,147) (219,706) 10,707 (7,456) 3,251
Loss for the year FAEAE - - - (10,108) (10,108) (6,732) (16,840)
Other comprehensive Hitt 2@ (BX) /WA
(expense)/income
Exchange differences arisingon ~ BB Z REEE
translating of financial HERZIEEK
statements from functional MEANELEZSE
currency to presentation
currency - - (353) - (353) 569 216
Total comprehensive expense FRZHF X HHE
for the year - - (353) (10,108) (10461) (6,163) (16,624)
At 31 March 2023 RZZ== ¢
=ZR=+- 135,625 99,935 (5,500) (229,814) 246 (13619 (13373)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mARBETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-WE T =F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHExT T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETR
Profit/(loss) before taxation BEADEF(BE) 5,898 (16,840)
Adjustments for: BTAEIRFHE
Depreciation of plant and equipment B REETE 58 1,023
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAREENE 841 1,417
Amortisation of intangible assets A EH 1 13
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary s —FE B 2R W (19,286) -
Gain on lease modification HMEBET W (4)
Investment income from financial assets KEBEAFEFABRD
at fair value through profit or loss TRIEENRERA (65) (425)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HERE k&EKE - (534)
Interest income from bank deposits IRITF A F B YA (10) (29)
Income from waived of lease repayment HNeBEERN K - (435)
Impairment loss on financial assets CREEMNREEBRE 1,066 427
Finance costs &R 478 966
Operating cash flows before movements in HBEESFYINKLLERENE
working capital (11,023) (14,417)
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 N H M e W IE R 6,404 1392
Decrease in contract assets BREERD - 286
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 N H b e SRIE R (3,537) (4,196)
Cash used in operations KEEBHANRS (8,156) (16,935)
Income tax refund BREIFESH - -
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZEEAMNRSFHE (8,156) (16,935)
ETRHEBRAR

ZEFERE



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mARBETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-WE T =F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHExT T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZE
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through B8 A& A FEF AEZEH
profit or loss SEEE - (17,121)
Net cash outflows from disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRBARME SR FE
(note 26) (MF5E26) (3) -
Purchase of plant and equipment BERE M - (291)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair ~ R EBIZAFETABZNEMEE
value through profit or loss o) SIEC T 7,814 30,216
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment HEMRE &R EEHIA - 573
Investment income from financial assets at fair REEAFESABGHNEREE
value through profit or loss K E A 65 425
Interest income from bank deposit HRITIF A HE WA 10 29
NET CASH GENERATED FROM INVESTING REFHMENREFER
ACTIVITIES 7,886 13,831
FINANCING ACTIVITY MEED
Repayment of lease liabilities HEARNER (841) (1,115)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITY RETEBRANESEE (841) (1,115)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRASEEYMRI FE
EQUIVALENTS (1,111) (4,219)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FHURERAESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 3,493 7978
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EEREHNTE 360 (208)
Bank balance and cash transferred to assets HRERELEEE
held for sale MIRTEHREE S - (58)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSATTHEEND FXRBRERESZEY
OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BANK (BPRITHEBRRIRE)
BALANCES AND CASH 2,742 3,493
Analysis of balances of cash and REeERASEEYHEHIM
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents RekRESEFEYD 2,742 3,493

Quantum Thinking Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 8 May 2000 and its
shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 July 2000.

The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The address of the principal place of business of the
Company is situated at Unit 1308, 13/F, Capital Centre, 151
Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong at 1 March 2023.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Happy On Holdings Limited (“Happy On”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Company is an investing holding company. Its major operating
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the provision of system
development services and other value-added technical consultation
services and trading of hardware products and short messaging
service fee.

The functional currency of the Company and the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") while that
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") are Renminbi (‘/RMB"). For the purpose of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HKS as
its presentation currency which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
following amendments to HKFRSs, issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") where are effective for
the Group's financial year beginning 1 April 2023:

Amendments to HKAS Tand  Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 Hong Kong Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material effect on the Group's financial performance and
positions for the current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2024

t

i

Ll

A RGBT ERMBRE

RAFE AEBECEREABETES
BRERMAMATRETEEN B REE
A e T -_=FHA-BHRBNAEAE

BB B E AR

BRGENF RN
BRREMBREER
BERBAL2RNEL]

BRI ENFRMER]

BRI ENZ 12N
MEsT

BREEENF 2R

#IER]
BB REERE 7R
BiEET
MRS ERE 7R
BEET

EEMBREERNE 7%
ol =)

gitfat s
E-RHRELNAE
R iR
BERE
ERRBUE — xiE
“RAEK
RIBA

BARBRERRNE
SREBET
BRERBANEHRE
ERIF 7R RE R
TR 2B 5%
— EmER

RAFEANRBEEFTTBMBHRE LR
HAEEAHMEEEHENMBRRR

MR K St B R A
WEERTZE -

BRI RE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

/\\/

B MR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non current and related amendments'
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'
Amendments to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HK Int 5

(Revised)

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause'

Amendments to HKAS 7and ~ Supplier Finance Arrangements?

HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of Laws of Hong Kong) (the “"Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets at fair value
though profit or loss and financial liabilities at fair value though profit
or loss that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Going concern assessment

The Group incurred a net liabilities of approximately HKS$1,681,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024 Notwithstanding the above
results, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of the going concern basis is
dependent upon the success of the Group's future operations, its
ability to generate adequate cash flows in order to meet its
obligations as and when fall due and its ability to refinance or
restructure its borrowings such that the Group can meet its future
working capital and financing requirements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern assessment (Continued)

Also, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
will be able to finance its future financing requirements and working
capital based on the following considerations:

The Group will continue to take active measures to control
administrative costs through various channels including
human resources optimisation and management
remuneration adjustments and containment of capital
expenditures.

The Group made progress in preparing to branch out into a
front-end business of selling smartwatches for children. The
smartwatches would be installed with the information
technology software and system developed by the Group. In
addition, it would be bundled with the telecommunication
services of a major telecom carrier in China, which can
function as a handset for both audio and visual
communications, connect to the internet through Wi-Fi and
enable the parents to track the wearers through the global
positioning system (GPS).

The substantial shareholder of the Company has agreed to
provide a shareholder's loan to support the Group’s continuing
operations.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has:

power over the investee;

exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group's returns.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it considers that it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to
give it power, including:

the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders
or other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders” meetings.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes on input and
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ERETEHERER (E)

INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods and
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services to a customer. Specifically, the Group uses a five-step
approach to recognise revenue:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced:; or

the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of

third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before

payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or
a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract
assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not

presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major sources:

Sales of hardware products;

Revenue from system development and consultancy services;

and

Revenue from short messaging service fee.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSHBEREN (&)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued) W (&)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued) EHEEREVEE(E)
Sales of hardware products HEEMHED

Revenue from sales of hardware products is recognised at a point in
time when the control of the goods is transferred to the customers.

HEEMEMO WS B mIIEGRER
ERF R R T AR o B m A E sl

Control of the goods is considered transferred to customers at the EEGATRNRERETEP -
time of delivery.
A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is FEWRIERE MR R#ER - JIH J\ﬁ/\ﬁﬁ

the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

%E%qu‘aﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬂﬂ{ fr BRREEARE
BRF F] HE 8 AT 75 21 B A MR

Revenue from system development and consultancy services R R G AR TS i

Revenue from system development and consultancy services were REF R AR W R BE R R o
recognised over time.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards GERS IR W - GTET D ETTEAIE T
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation I E

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method. Input methods
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation (for example, resources
consumed, labour hours expended, or costs incurred) relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation. The Group's efforts or inputs are expended evenly
throughout the performance period, the Group recognises revenue
on a straight-line basis.

Warranties

If a customer has the option to purchase a warranty separately, the
Group accounts for the warranty as a separate performance
obligation and allocates a portion of the transaction price to that
performance obligation.

If a customer does not have the option to purchase a warranty
separately, the Group accounts for the warranty in accordance with
HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”
unless the warranty provides the customer with a service in addition
to the assurance that the product complies with agreed-upon
specifications (i.e. service-type warranties).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)
Warranties (Continued)

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations are
recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group's obligation.

For service-type warranties, the promised service is a performance
obligation. In that case, the Group allocates a portion of the
transactions price to the warranty.

Revenue from short messaging service fee

The Group recognised revenue based on the volume of short
messaging service consumed monthly. Revenue recognised at a
point of time when service is provided.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is
a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for
the provision of the specified good or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For the contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease, at inception of the contract or modification date.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease
liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less). For these leases, the Group recognises
the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date. The lease payments are discounted by using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or
change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using revised discount rate.

the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate
or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to
dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for
any measurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated over the
shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

Lease modification

Except for Covid-19 — related concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to
its leased properties. Leases for which the Group is a lessor are
classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to
allocate the consideration under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (ie. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the net
investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit or
loss on disposal of the foreign operation. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a joint arrangement that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate.

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect
of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the

related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilised the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment and depreciation

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method for the
plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimate useful lives. The
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash, as defined
above.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment losses on plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (other than
impairment of goodwill set out in accounting
policy of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGU, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value-in-use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss was recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NMVIN

=R GET e

Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI"), and fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost
if both of the following conditions are met:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) excluding ECL, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument
on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)

0]

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the "Other income” line item (note 8).

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Specifically, debt
instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the
FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
note 6.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments in
debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group's
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s
operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A

/N

P ek

Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the
asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past
due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a
financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over three years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee
contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the
reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to
be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on
historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future
financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected
loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that
the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Maodification of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash flows
are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of
the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset, after reducing
gross carrying amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
assets will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial assets’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted
to the carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial asset is recognised in profit or loss at the
date of modification.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVLTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does
not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement
approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting
policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies, (2)
held-for-trading, or (3) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or
losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in profits or losses
to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a
financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings upon
derecognition of the financial liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination, (2) held-for-trading, or (3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Modification of financial liabilities

A substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial
liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the financial
difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an extinguishment of the
original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial
liability. The Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per
cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly, such
exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised
as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when
such difference is less than 10 per cent.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. At the end of the
subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are
measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less
cumulative amortisation (if appropriate) recognised in accordance
with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except net realisable value of inventories
and value-in-use of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets for the purpose of impairment assessment, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group
categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, based on
the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

System development contracts revenue recognition

The Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to
the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the accumulated actual of
contract costs incurred for work performed to date over the
estimated total contract costs. Notwithstanding that the
management reviews and revises the estimates of both contract
revenue and costs for the system development contract as the
contract progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in terms of
its total revenue and costs may be higher or lower than the estimates
and this will affect the revenue and profit recognised.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has recognised revenue from
project-based system development contracts of approximately
HK$3,976,000 (2023: HK$14,418,000).

Impairment of plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at the end of each
reporting period. Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value-
in-use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are approximately HK$272,000 and
HKS$697,000 respectively (2023: HK$345,000 and HKS$1,631,000
respectively). Based on the estimated recoverable amounts, no
impairment loss in respect of plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets has been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2024 and 31 March 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimated useful life of plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the Company
review the estimated useful life of plant and equipment with finite
useful life. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’ estimates of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group’s plant and equipment. The
residual values reflect the directors’ estimated amount that the
Group would currently obtain from disposal of the assets, after
deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already
of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
The carrying amounts of plant and equipment with finite useful life
as at 31 March 2024 are HK$272,000 (2023: HK$345,000).

Allowance recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables and contract assets

The impairment provisions for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the number of days that an
individual receivable is outstanding as well as the Group's historical
experience and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary
to make additional impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of trade receivables and
other receivables and contract assets are approximately
HK$7,286,000 (2023: HK$14,921,000), HK$3,143,000 (2023:
HK$3,214,000) and HK$188,000 (2023: HK$246,000) respectively, net
of accumulated loss allowance of approximately HKS$1,212,000 (2023:
HK$384,000), HK$ 1,113,000 (2023: HK$986,000) and HK$51,000 (2023:
HK$6,000) accumulated loss allowance respectively.

Impairment loss on trade receivables, other receivables and contract
assets approximately HK$857,000 (2023: HK$29,000), HK$ 158,000
(2023: HK$398,000) and HKS$51,000 (2023: HKS Nil) respectively has
been recognised during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of financial liabilities

As described in note 6, the directors of the Company use their
judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for
financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied.
Financial liabilities are valued using a discounted cash flow analysis
based on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable
market price or rates. The estimation of fair value of financial liabilities
include some assumptions not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The carrying amount of the financial liabilities as at 31
March 2024 is HKS Nil (2023: HKS Nil). Details of the assumptions
used are disclosed in note 6. The directors of the Company believe
that the chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are
appropriate in determining the fair value of financial liabilities.

Income taxes

As disclosed in note 28, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$206,620,000 (2023: HK$229,885,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams as at 31 March 2024. The realisability of the
deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary difference will be available in the future.
In case where the actual future profits generated are less than
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the year in which such a
reversal take place.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. EXERERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able AEBEEBREERNUBRRANEBENFE
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to e AREAEERERAME TS
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity FEREMBRE AL 8 E—FEAKR
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior REBWBERBARIE -
year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of trade and other AEBMNERNEERIEWT0MEENE
receivables disclosed in note 20 and bank balances and cash R E A EWFRIE - M FE23 TR BR AR 1T
disclosed in note 23, and equity attributable to the owners of Group, EH kB e URAEEHEBABGHES
comprising issued capital and reserves. (BREEBEITRANEE) -
The directors of the Company review the capital structure RRARESTHERERER - EREH
periodically. As part of the review, the directors of the Company B—&D ARRAEEFZEEERK AR A
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class SHEEANRBNRR  WIEHBEETEHRA
of capital, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group's capital BAESEMNERNERE - REARAESFH
structure. Based on the recommendations of the directors of the BE - ASEREATRERE KERE
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through TR FE BB E AL -
use of debts, payment of dividends and issuance of new shares.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. RITH
Categories of financial instruments TRTANSE
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHEIT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BHBENTFTENEREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BREESNIRSEEY) 13,359 22,846
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFABGNEREE 52 8210
13,411 31,056
Financial liabilities TREE
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEA A ENEMSREE 16,663 20,760
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BEAVEFAEENESREE - -
16,663 20,760
ETRHEBRAR

ZEFERE
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other

receivables, deposits, bank balances and cash, financial assets at
FVTPL, trade and other payables and financial liabilities at FVTPL.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective

notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments included

market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and

liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out

below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to

ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
bank balances, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. USD are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entity.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

6.

eI A (&)
TREREEBRRREE
AEENTIZSRIABEES RHME
WHIE T3 RITEBRLERS  RAF
EFf ABENERMEE B RHEMEN
RBEURR A FEFABRSNSREE -
ZETBRTANFBERNEBEMEPHE -
HZEeMTAAENARBEDSER
(B¥RREMNERE)  EERRLTE
AR - R IE &S R E RN
TX-EEEEENMERZFER AR
REFARMETHEE R

Wi R

() EEERE
RRRETHEARBINEIRITEE -
SAEEEBINERR - ETTUAEE
BRI EEE A EREHE -

RS HEH - WINSFHENAEEER

denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are as BEENREERT :
follows:
Assets
BE
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHEIT
usD ETT 61 61

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging of significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity Analysis

The Group currently is mainly exposed to the effects of
fluctuation in USD as above. Management of the Group
considers the currency risk of the Group is insignificant for the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, hence no sensitivity
analysis is presented.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances (see note 23) carried at
prevailing market rates. The Group also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (see note 22). The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider other necessary action when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

Sensitivity Analysis

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances is minimal due to short-term
maturities, hence, no sensitivity analysis is prepared.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge all obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and other
receivables and bank balance and cash. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on an collectively basis
by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group'’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

£MI A (&)
SREBEERERBE ()
15 B ()

i) FEES

A BRI TR R 03 8
BT84 (RHE23) BRB SRR
R - ARENRIEATEF AR
BT ESRAE (RAMED) EEA
T8 R o 7 TR B A T 4
R BRI - AT - B2 B R
REK TR BB REAR R,
05 % A BTE -

AR 6 8R4 T B O T 6 B
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other non-trade related receivables, the Group has assessed
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime
rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

internal credit rating;
external credit rating;

actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the operating result
of the borrower;

significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the borrower; and

significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the Group and changes in the operating
results of the borrower.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its operation
management committee to develop and maintain the Group's credit
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk
of default. The credit rating information is supplied by independent
rating agencies where available and, if not available, the operation
management committee uses other publicly available financial
information and the Group's own trading records to rate its major
customers and other debtors. The Group's exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises the
following categories:

Category
28

Description
it

SR T A (&)
TREREEEERBER (&)

FERR ()

A 5K B i 1 B R AR
REEERREERK AEBECSRHHE
REEEZERHEYHFAKEEER
R UREBEEHEZNORRNEEZHRAR
WOETDE - EEFAREN BB
MEBREA (A ES)  MEBZESE
MEHRNBRT KEERZESREM
HMARASUHBENRASENEAR
HRBHETEEP REMER AETF
R AEEERHBEEZEAISHFHOA
B O REEFR  UHMATRZZH4E
EDHEEHENRZIHF T -

ARE A A ERRTAERBEAT
5

Basis for recognising ECL

BRAAMEFEBANEE

Performing

For financial assets where there has low risk of default or

12-month ECL

has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer

to as Stage 1)

B4 @ B E ERE AR K B 116 R A

I ARG N B I EAEERE (B

Doubtful

e
aH

P& B

For financial assets where there has been a significant

R{EABHREEEER

Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that

are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)

Ey PN Pl

TREENEERRB VA
WS ERE (FEH 2B R

A] &t

Default

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one

2HMEHMEEER —BEERE

Lifetime ECL — credit impaired

or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred

(refer to as Stage 3)

[t

Write-off

BERE—MASZHEMHUEELRARKBASRES
BEFERTREENMAAEERE (FBE3EER)

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

ERREABEEABABRENMFERE - Al
7 & B B FRIE Y 7 25T

2HMEMEEEE —FERE

Amount is written-off

FRIR IR M 3

BFEHEERAT
ZEFERE
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group's exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group's financial
assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by

6. LRI A (&)
CRIEREREEEREX (&)

FERR ()
A Bz BER ()

E-

FRAEEEREENEEIARAR

BEERRTEE D RN EE@ERD&RAE

credit risk rating grades: EREHA
2024 2023
—EomEF —T-=F
Internal Gross Net Gross Net
credit 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
Notes rating lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount amount  allowance amount
B 12828
M RFEFR BEHREEER REAE BHEEAF EEFE FILE BEEE KRE¥E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET THET FTHET FHET FHET
Trade receivables 20 (Note) Lifetime ECL 8,498 (1,212) 7,286 15,305 (384) 14,921
B 5 WA (BT3E) (simplified
approach)
S HRBEEEE
(%)
Deposits 20 Performing  12-month ECL 2,545 (505) 2,040 2514 (436) 2078
B B4 1218 ATEH
FEEE
Other receivables 20 Performing  12-month ECL 1,397 (294) 1,103 1372 (236) 1,136
Hb R RRIE BA 1218 A T8
EEEE
Contract assets 21 Performing  12-month ECL 239 (51) 188 252 (6) 246
BREE B4 1218 A TE 8
FEEBE
Other receivables 20 Doubtful Lifetime ECL — not 314 (314) - 314 (314) -
Hofth FE R IE AT &R credit impaired
2HESREEEE
—EEERE
(2,376) (1,376)
Mzt : MEZEBHIENES AEEERATBUBER

Note:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated based
on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors,
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future
economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is
presented based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix. Note
20 includes further details on the loss allowance for these assets respectively.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group's exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets at FVTPL as
disclosed in note 22 best represent their respective maximum
exposure to credit risk. The Group holds no collateral over any of
these balances.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 64% (2023: 83%) and
100% (2023: 99%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest external customer and the top five largest external
customers respectively as at 31 March 2024.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flow. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of each reporting
period.

eI A (&)

TRE R EEE R REGR ()
EERR (#)
755 (8 1 s 5 LB (4B

REBPMEL2MBERAFEFARSR
MEeRMEEREESERREZENES
EERBAYE - AEEW BT FLE
ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ#ﬁuu"

RZZEZNF=ZA=+—H HREFE
WERIB A5 64% (—E - =4 :83%) &
100% (ZF = =4 : 99%) 5 Bl 2k B AN & &
BRARIINTEL R AKRINBES AL
EEEFREERRE -

RBE SRR

E%fi/miﬂé{iﬂg KE.EQ%%E
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

6. SRITH (&)

TREREEEERBER (&)

REE SR (8

At 31 March 2024
R-ZZ-ME=A=+-H

More than More than Total

Within one lyearbut  2yearsbut  contractual
year or on less than less than undiscounted Carrying
demand 2years 5 years cash flows amount

—ERH BE-F BBME BOKRER
RERX [EIRmFE EIREF RERELH REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THER THET TER TR
Trade and other payables o REMENTIA 16,663 = = 16,663 16,663
Lease liabilities HEAR 74 - - 741 724

At 31 March 2023
NZEZ=F=A=1—H

More than More than Total

Within one T year but 2 years but contractual
year or on less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

—FA% BE—F BBME AORRE
BEX ELRMF EIREF RERELET REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THET THET TR T
Trade and other payables B o REMENTIA 20,760 - - 20,760 20,760
Lease liabilities BERE 852 829 - 1,681 1,601
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ©EITH (/)
Fair value measurement objective and policies AFEFEEERBE
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that TREHHENEREPRIZATETEN
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, CRTEST  WHREBEASBENZEK
grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree RERATEABEREEREAF 22K
to which the fair value is observable in accordance to the Group’s RNEBEE -
accounting policy.
At 31 March 2024
R-ZEB-_NmFE=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BB g E=IE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET FEx FER
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFABEN
tREE
— Wealth management products — ¥ BA & i - 52 - 52
At 31 March 2023
R_E_=f=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E B F=IZ mEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FHT FHT FHT T
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFABREWN
tRMEE
— Wealth management products — — ¥ 81 2 & - 8,210 - 8,210

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in the

current and prior year.

AIMBEFE RFEERCHEILE

BFEHEERAT
ZEFERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR

Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. LRETEH(E)
Fair value measurement objective and policies AFEFEEERBEER ()
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial FEERBLEMHEERATEIENS
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEERSHMEENATE
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value BEECEFHEEFESENIANQATE
measurements of each financial instruments on a recurring basis are BF AT A A E R T M s A SRS AN T -

set out below:

Fair value as at 31 March

R=ZA=T-BWA¥E

Relationship of
key inputs and
Significant significant
Fair value Valuation technique  unobservable unobservable
2024 2023 hierarchy and key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
BRHABBEEATE
HELER EXTABE NEXTTEHE
SEoME —To=F AVEER BEREAAHE BAYE BABENHBEE
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TER TAET
Financial assets at FVTPL
BAVMEGABRNEREE
— Wealth management products 52 8210 Level2 Quotedrate of return by~ N/A N/A
issuing bank
—BHER FE BORANERERE TER TER
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
BRATEFAABRRNERER
— Financial liabilities arising in - - Level3 Discounted cash flow Discount rate of 2021 The higher the discount
relation to the provision of model based on was 2.53% rate, the lower the
the Profit Guarantee discount rate and value (note )
future cash flow
—RREATIREEE F=E ERERERARRE —F=— EREES BELE
HeRas MEMARELNE  HEERL53% (P5E)
i)
Note: B 5
0] If the discount rate to the valuation model were 10 basis point higher/lower 0] M fEERXAOMEE A TRI0EES M
while all the other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the i E e TE  BIFIEM \/ﬁﬁ%‘ﬂ%ﬁﬁxi
financial liabilities arising in relation to the provision of the Profit Guarantee HemABENEREEEREAERD N (=T
would decrease/increase by Nil (2023: Nil). Z=F AR HEM) -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. LRETEH(E)
Fair value measurement objective and policies AFEFEEERBE (H)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial FEERBELEMEERATEITENS
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis MEERSHMEBENQFEE)
(Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial BERREHENREELENLTERELES
liabilities arising in relation to the provision of the Profit Guarantee BmEBEE=-EATEFENHE
on recurring basis:
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TER FHET
At 31 March R=A=+—H - -
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RAABIEERE HREAGMBEmEFR
current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost using the AEBRR R E AR AR R E 5
effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial BERRNNEHANEE  SREREE SR
statements approximate their fair values due to their immediate or HEAFERE -
short-term maturities.
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RARABEERR RNEGVBHRETERA
the other non-current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost B R ZOR IR E AR RN A RS E A IR E
using the effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial TRAENEEEEEATERSE -
statements approximate their fair values.
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEKDHEHR

Revenue represents revenue arising from system development
service, consultancy service, sales of hardware products and short
messaging service fee. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the
year is as follows:

WeEtE K B RS ERY - AR -
SR EmMEERBEE N W - NE
BERKEH O

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHEIT
Revenue from contracts with customers BREEM G HmEERIE 155
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEAWKEEPE OB
Disaggregated by major products REZEMOF
— Services — R
System development . REFE 3,976 14,418
Consultancy . B - 994
— Sales of hardware — EEME Y 929 2,878
— Short messaging service fee — EERBWE 11,247 -
16,152 18,290
ETRHEBRAR

ZEFERE
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEKRDHWEHR (&)
(Continued)
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from TXEHINAEBEBREEMBRELERSE

contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15:

15SREBEN KB TP ALK EN DI

Short
Salesof messaging
Services hardware service fee Total
EER%
BR#%E SHEEH & et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
For the year ended BE-_Z-_NmF
31 March 2024 ZA=+—-HLHFE FTHERT FTHER THET THET
Timing of revenue recognition TR U 55 Y B
At a pointin time RE—FREE - 929 11,247 12,176
Over time B B R 3,976 - - 3,976
3,976 929 11,247 16,152
Sales of
Services hardware Total
AR THEE AT
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
For the year ended HEZZT-=F
31 March 2023 ZA=+—RBLLFE TAET TET FHET
Timing of revenue recognition TR U 25 Y B R
Ata point in time RE R - 2,878 2,878
Over time Ba i Fl 15,412 - 15412
15412 2,878 18,290
Information reported to the directors of the Company, being the HERDERFEDFRBMAARRE
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purpose of E(ANEFELERKE) ZWHER &+
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses RETRERBER - REBAEENT
on types of services provided. No operating segments identified by EROPHREEETIELERKEHZRT
the CODM has been aggregated in arriving at the reportable KA D EB o

segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments are as follows:

LHER  NEBENR2HHEMAT :

—  System development and consultancy services ("Services”); —  EERBLFA (RS
—  Sales of hardware products; and — HEMHEm: K
—  Short messaging service fee (commenced operation in the — EERBEERRESHRARREE) -

Reporting Period).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZE=-ZT—

ME=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEKRDHWEHR (&)
(Continued)
Segment revenues and results DEW R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by INTRIZAZF D BREE D HEHHIAER
reportable and operating segment. EEWEREEDN -
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_Z_NME=A=+—HLEE
Short
Sales of messaging
Services hardware service fee Total
EER%
R SHEEH = #et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHExT FEx FHEx
Segment revenue 7 EBULER 3,976 929 11,247 16,152
Segment (loss)/profit a8 (B51R), % F (4,460) (1,096) 353 (5,203)
Unallocated income Ko A 20,450
Unallocated corporate expenses RO EMX (8,722)
Unallocated finance costs ROV BER (469)
Impairment loss on other receivables — E fth & I R IB R B &5 18 (158)
Profit before taxation B 56 AT 7 5,898

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE-_Z-_=F=A=1+—BLFE

Sales of

Services hardware Total

AR 7% SHERE M 48T

HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000

FAT FAT FAET

Segment revenue 7B E 15412 2,878 18,290
Segment loss 2kt (3,817) (3,200) (7,017)
Unallocated income FoEUA 1,113
Unallocated corporate expenses RO EEMT (9,578)
Unallocated finance costs KO BER (960)
Impairment loss on other receivables L4t & I 30 IR B9 8 (B /&5 18 (398)
Loss before taxation BrEAIEE (16,840)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Segment loss
represents the loss of each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, directors’ emoluments, other income and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the directors of the
Company with respect to the resource allocation and performance
assessment.

A& & oy BR PR A B & A B BRI 51 3 P AR
SENETBRRMER - 7 BEREELE
DA RITEAAR BEHHN - A
LM ERNBER T DR MELNER -
WHEARFRERZRAETERD R
RIHAEHGTEIA -

BFEHEERAT
ZEFERE
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.
(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by
reportable and operating segment:

Wk o EBER (&)
THEERER

AT RZAIZHRD BREEDHE DB

SEEERABNDN

Segment assets PWEE
2024 2023
—E-E T =%
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT AT
Services AR 7,808 14,112
Sales of hardware HEE 4 1,352 2,101
Short messaging service fee EEREKRE 2,753 -
Total segment assets DEPEEBTE 11,913 16,213
Assets classified as held for sale DEABEHENEE - 602
Corporate and other assets rEREMERE 3,808 17,818
Total assets BEE 15,721 34,633
Segment liabilities PEAE
2024 2023
—T-omF —EC=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FEx FET
Services PR 75 9,866 13,631
Sales of hardware HEBMH 1,481 610
Short messaging service fee REREKE 540 -
Total segment liabilities HEEERE 11,887 14,241
Liabilities associated with assets HAYBARFIELENEE
classified as held for sale HENEE - 25,629
Corporate and other liabilities TrELREMEE 5,515 8,136
Total liabilities wam 17,402 48,006

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2024




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A

/N

P ek

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating

resources between segments:

All assets are allocated to operating segment, other than

unallocated deposits, prepayments and other receivables,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, bank

balances and cash and other corporate assets. Assets used

jointly by reportable segments are allocated on the basis of

the revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other than

7.

Wz & o &R E# ()
PMEEREE ()
RERSBRARSESBHERMS -
— BASEZRS BENREAREMEK
HOE - RATEFARSHSBEE -

ﬁEﬁmﬁﬁ%&fﬁﬁ AR EA B EES -

MBEEENIEERENH - T2
DEARERHEEAER T 2HD

ARATERENH R E B D BCHOERE ¢ [

BRARDECEMENRENREFEM -

unallocated other payables and accruals, income tax payable ARIAEE: %R&ﬁ@u:%ﬁ &oN A
and other corporate liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable BEHS KED I AIZMDF
segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to H[A] F IR EI'J E ﬁ?ﬁz LBl BT HEHE
segment liabilities. La
Other segment information Hfth 5 3 & 8
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_Z-_NME=A=+—HLEE
Short
Salesof  messaging
Services hardware servicefee  Unallocated Total
R HERYH RERELE KOE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET THT TET TET TR
Amounts include in the measure of FENHEBEL \‘5
segment loss or segment assets: BER ARIE
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH - - - 900 900
Impairment loss on trade receivables BB ENRESSE 719 138 - - 857
Impairment loss on contract assets ANEERRESR 51 - - - 51
Impairment loss on other receivables — E- b U X IB KR B 5 18 - - - 158 158
Amounts regularly provided to the chief T iR E B ERRE
operating decision maker but not REBHENBERK
included in the measure of segment S EEER I & AR
profit or loss or segment assets: I
Investment income from financial assets 387 AR A F(E:t AR
designated as at FVTPL MemEEMNRERA - - - (65) (65)
Interest income FlEMA - - - (10) (10)
Finance costs HBER - - - 478 478
B7REHRAT

TR NFEERE
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Wk o EBER (&)

Hftt o MEH ()
BE-Z-_=F=-A=+—-AuLtFE

Sales of
Services hardware  Unallocated Total
fR7  SHEREH Ko BEt
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Amounts include in the measure of HESHEBEY
segment loss or segment assets: DEPEERET ARFIE
Addition to non-current assets (Note) ~ RNEIERENE E (I 5E) 370 88 1,560 2,018
Depreciation and amortisation e R 1,125 267 1,061 2453
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2 5 EWFIER) R EE B 29 - - 29
Impairment loss on other receivables L Ji& U 3k T8 #Y 5l (B B5 18 - - 398 398
Amounts regularly provided to the chief EHiA = BLZREE
operating decision maker but not REEFESHEBEE
included in the measure of segment B%) “BﬁFE#Iﬁ
loss or segment assets: ST AR
Investment income from financial assets 18 € Bz A FET AE D
designated as at FVTPL MEMEENRERA - - (425) (425)
Interest income FEHA - - (29) (29)
Finance costs BB 6 2 958 966

Note:  Non-current assets excluded goodwill for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s
operations are mainly located in the PRC.

Substantially all of the Group’s operation are in the PRC, no
geographical information is presented.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEKRDHWEHR (&)
(Continued)
Information about major customers FRFXEEFNEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing KEREBFREAAEBAKZE TR 10%
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: A EHEFPIREGEHT
2024 2023
—E-F —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Company A! NIV 3,976 14,298
Company B NGRS 11,047 N/A 3 3 2
! Revenue from services segment. ! Wz R B RBHE -
2 Revenue from short messaging service fee segment. 2 a2k B R E RS I E 5 %B
3 Revenue from relevant customers was less than 10% of the Group's total 3 REEBAEPHBE PR AEERBETFE KR
revenue for the respective year. LBEER)10% °
8. OTHERINCOME 8. Hftblg A
2024 2023
—E-NF —_T=%F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHE T FHT
Interest income from bank deposits RITIF A F BAULA 10 29
Investment income from financial assets FBEZRAFEFTABED
designated as at FVTPL TEREEMNRERA 65 425
Income from waived of lease repayment e HEERAA - 435
Gain on litigation claim (note b) uﬁ*/\ AR (FHiEb) 1,005
Government grants (note a) AT B (P 5 a) 109 120
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HEME k& EkE - 534
Others HAtb 223 50
1,412 1,593

Note:

(@)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, government grants are recognised of
approximately HK$109,000 (2023: HKSNil) related to the government grants
from the PRC local government authorities in respect of subsidising the Group's
scientific and technological and operating activities, which were immediately
recognised as other income for the year as the Group fulfilled all the relevant
granting criteria.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, government grants are recognised of
approximately HK$120,000 for funding support from the Employment Support
Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Government of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region.

The income from legal claim was due to the legal case on 20 November 2023
between the Group and an independent third party (the “Defendant’), while
the following remedies were taken: (i) Immediate payment of intermediary
compensation in the amount of RMB974,508 (equivalent to HK$1,005,000) from
the Defendant and (ii) The Defendant should bear the litigation costs and any
preservation fees, if applicable. According to the agreement, the Group
successfully facilitated the signing of a project contract between the Defendant
and a client. The Defendant is therefore obligated to pay the agreed-upon
intermediary compensation. Thus, the Group recognised the payment of
intermediary compensation as other income under legal claim.

CEX

(@)

BHE-_ZT-_NF=-A=+—BLFE CHRHE
BHUAEENREREETHME R @S
BT # W ER ) B AT+ Bh B B O BT+ Bh 40 3
1090008 T (ZEZ=F:THx) - BHRAKE
EHAMAEBRLEE  WZRIBERRERER
BFERNEMUBA -

HE-_Z-_=4=A=+—HLFE BERIL
RAFH BI 49 A 12000078 7T * A BB HFRIITERE
BRESYHHENEES TRIEENENES
EB -

EERRRANDEE-_Z-_=F+—A=-+H
ANEBE-ZBBIFE=H (HEAD) 2BW8E
BRFDMEE  MAEECD I THRERE :
(i) 5 ABDEE S (PR N (E & AR 974,508 7T (48
71,005,000 7T) LA R (i) 5 A EREFAE
ARAMR2E (WER) - REHH A5®
RIS ANBRFPEIHEE S BIEA
*ﬁ%i%fiﬁ%mmﬂtﬂu WES - Bt - AEES
PAHENRERREZERREA THEMUA -

ETREARRAT
—E-EERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

9.

10.

FINANCE COSTS 9. MBEH
2024 2023
—E_ME Tz =
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&ET FET
Interest on late settlement of litigation claims ~ fEIEAEH R AL HEFI S 417 922
Interests on lease liabilities HESENFE 61 44
478 966
INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. FRIEHMAX
2024 2023
—F-MF —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET

CEX

Current year REE
PRC Enterprises Income Tax (“EIT”) PRI EMEH
([EFmBH])
Notes:
(a) No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for the years ended 31 March 2024

and 2023 as the Company did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong
Kong Profits Tax.

(b) Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law") and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is
25% for both years. Moreover, PRC subsidiaries under high tech enterprises is
15% for both years.

The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the loss before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

(@) HE-_Z-_NFER-_ZT-_=F=ZA=+—A81
FEWEIREENESHEE  REAKXARNL
BN EBFEHOERBEF

(b  BREPECEXMETE(RERERED R
EMBBERERGD KM EFE - hEIKE
DA AT R 5325% © U oh - BT A R R T
BT KRMEFENHRERIER15% -

FrERAX s Ra hEMe2miaR
PrEREOBR L AT BT IR AR AN TS

2024 2023
—E_E —EC=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB (E5E) 5,898 (16,840)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% &AMy TS R 7R R 16.5%
(2023:16.5%) (ZZT =% :165%)
B eTIA 973 2,779)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AR S TR A e &
tax purposes 276 161
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEARTHBA BT 52
tax purposes (3,273) (195)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTEEENT B E 4,008 7,003
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEEREEHNNE RN A
operating in other jurisdictions TR EH B (1,984) (4,190)

Income tax credit for the year

FAMEHER

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 28.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

11. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 1. FRER(BER)
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBOBRB DR A, (E18) &1k (G
(crediting): A) TS IE R ER

2024 2023

—E-F —T=%

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FEx FET

Directors’ emoluments (note 12) E=HM(MHEE12) 2,313 2,804

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors' & E @ FIF X (TEIEES &
and chief executive’s remuneration (note 12)) £ 277 A BB (Ff5E12))

— Wages and salaries —TIE8EH® 3,324 3,843

— Pension scheme contributions — RIREF B 246 528
Total staff costs BIKABEE 5,883 7175
Auditor's remuneration % ELRD BN & 480 510
Depreciation of plant and equipment E kR ETE 58 1,023
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TAEEENE 841 1417
Amortisation of intangible assets | A E 1 13
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2 5 W IER R EBE 857 29
Impairment loss on other receivables H b G IER R EEE 158 398
Impairment loss on contract assets BHEEMREERE 51 -
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment Hjﬁf%& 518 B W 2 - (534)
Cost of inventories recognised as ERAERIHFERAK

an expense 880 2,687
Lease rentals for office premises (note i) WAEYWEMAERS (MFED 10 10
Net exchange loss T 5 B 155 10 23
Note: Bt 3
0] The amounts represent lease rentals relating to short-term leases under HKFRS 0] ZEBIEBBVBREENE6REBEBTHRE

16. HEENHEEHES -
ETRHEBRAR

TR NFEERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 12. E5E %
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules BREE X FTGEME 5 LR Bl - H A A A
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange, F602EE BN TEAHIE383(1)@) -~ (b) - (©
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies BFOAEAG (BBEEFEHNEER) RHIE
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information “HOEEFAESHMAOT

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G of Laws of Hong
Kong), is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect ofa  FA1EAZEE (TR AR A &
person’s services as a director, whether of the  EL i B 2 7) 12 (@ A RS
Company and its subsidiaries undertaking B2 15T 2 8 Ui 3 B
Fees ik 420 420
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of ~ FLE BRI ARIE B ARG K
director’s other services in connection with HEM B AR EHBHE MR
the management of the affairs of the B 3k B i A 5 B
Company and its subsidiaries undertaking
Other emoluments: =)
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEREDEAN 1,852 2,362
Pension scheme contributions RIRET B 41 22
1,893 2,384
2,313 2,804

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 12. EEHM (&)
Details of directors’ emoluments are as follows: EZHFHMOFBOT -
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services in MZALTEREEARAQAREMMB R AN
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or EHFBENBL T RENRSE M FZ
its subsidiary undertaking: AT B9 F B 3 5% A AT BERZ 5 Al 7% T U ER
B -
Employer’s

Salaries, contributions
allowances to retirement

and other benefits
Fees benefits scheme Total
Fe EZHR EX@ENKER
we Hib @A R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TET FEx FERx
Year ended 31 March 2024 Bz-z-_m#g
ZA=t+-HLEE
Executive directors HITEZF
Mr. Ho Yeung (note ) A% 58 4 (BI3ED) - 600 - 600
Mr. Wang Xiaoqj (note i) TEFHAE () - 596 41 637
Mr. Cai Dan (notes i, ii) B/ (BT i) = 125 = 125
Ms. Ho Ching (note i) ik 2z £ (Bf3E) - 531 - 531
Independent non-executive directors B IEHTEE
Mr. Lau Chor Ki W5 EE 180 = = 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFEFLE 120 = = 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee BRELAE 120 - - 120
Total mEr 420 1,852 a 2,313
BFEHEERAT

ZEFERE
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 12. EEHM (F)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking:

MZATHEEERARFHENE RN
EBEBBHNBER T RN RS M S %
A B B S 5% A o FT BA R S AR A T HOER
M FTE

Employer's
Salaries, contributions
allowances to retirement
and other benefits
Fees benefits scheme Total
o2k EXmERER
we H A @ # REIES By
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET TET
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_T_=f%
ZA=t-HLEE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Yeung (note ) ]33 52 A (BI3E) - 600 - 600
Mr. Wang Xiaoqj (note i) F R LA () - 607 2 629
Mr. Cai Dan (notes , ii P54 (B s - i) - 522 - 522
Ms. Ho Ching (note ) I E 22 & (B3E1) - 633 - 633
Independent non-executive directors % FEHTEE
Mr. Lau Chor Ki MEHLE 180 - - 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFFEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee EEALE 120 - - 120
Total st 420 2362 2 2,804
Notes: BiaE -
0} The remuneration includes remuneration paid to them in their capacity as an (i) ERFMNBEEZSEETUARTNNE R TIE
employee of the subsidiaries of the Company. B8 &5 WA o
(i) Resigned on 31 May 2023. (i) RIE-_=FRA=1+—HEIE-
No chief executive was appointed during the years ended 31 March HE-_ZT-_WMER_ZT-_=F=F=4+—

2024 and 2023.

No directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive the
emolument paid by the Group during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.

Save for an amount equivalent to one month salary being paid to Mr.
Cai Dan, who resigned on 31 May 2023, as compensation, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement for joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office during the years end 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

13‘

14.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. & B %A
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2023: hAEAEEFALTHR =R (ZEZ=F 1
four) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are set out H)BERRES  BEMNH WA
in note 12. The emoluments of the remaining two (2023: one) NoBTWA(ZEZ=F: —R) &= H
highest paid individuals were as follows: ANTHE BT :
2024 2023
—E-ImEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits ¥4 + T& ~ 28k R H &7 1,240 715
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme R {RFEFI 5+ 247K 18 18
1,258 733
Their emoluments were within the following bands: FENPHES N TUATEE :
Number of individuals
A
2024 2023
—B-NUE —E-=
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7 7T 2 1
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid HE-_Z-_MFR-FT_=F=A=+—
individuals as an inducement for joining the Group or as BIEFE -AEETERAAEESHALT
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 March XA ER B S EAINA RS B EE) k1
2024 and 2023 REEREE -
DIVIDENDS 14. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31 March HE-_ZT-_WMER_ZT-_="F=F=4—
2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end HIEFESERNIEZRNKRE BB
of the Reporting Period. WEHARESEZZRNERRE -
ETRHEBRAR

ZEFERE
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

15. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

15. 8REBF,(&#8)
RATAE AEESREARBERT (6
18) EA AT R

following:
2024 2023
—B-nmE —EC=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHT
Profit/(loss) s, (EE)
Profit/(loss) for the purpose of basic and diluted &5t & & I E A K 858
earnings/(l0ss) per share, representing BF(E18) AR
profit/(loss) for the year attributable swm Al (B8) - BARAR]
to owners of the Company A AEEERER(EE) 6,604 (10,108)
2024 2023
ST —F=-=
Number of shares ®RHEAE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares A&t E S E A L #5E
for the purpose of basic and diluted profit/ il /(EE B) A/
(loss) per share (‘000 shares) TBAINEFE S (TR) 1,356,250 1,356,250

The dilutive earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per
share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. MERE&E

Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and Motor Office
improvements machinery fixtures vehicle equipment Total
HENEHEE BER#E GAKRECHEE AE BARE @zt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TR
CosT BA
At 1 April 2022 R-E-—#WA—H 9,273 2,105 1,046 815 258 13497
Additions RE - 8 - 304 3 315
Disposal heE - (422) - (756) - (1178)
Exchange alignment T (688) (81) (72) (82) - (923
At 31 March 2023 and RZZEZ=
1 April 2023 ZA=+-8k
“E-=FMA—H 8,585 1,610 974 281 261 1,711
Fxchange alignment ERREES (449) (33) (48) (15) - (545)
At31 March 2024 RZTZE
=A=+—"H 8,136 1,577 926 266 261 11,166
ACCUMULATED ZANERAE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—FNA—H 8,398 1975 958 423 240 11,994
Charge for the year FRAZM 813 69 59 70 12 1023
Disposal HeE - (405) - (453) - (858)
Exchange alignment [E 5 % (626) (71) (65) (31 - (793)
At 31 March 2023 and RZZZ=F
1 April 2023 “A=t-8k
“T-=FWA—AH 8,585 1,568 952 9 252 11,366
Charge for the year FRZH - 4 - 52 2 58
Exchange alignment B 3R 2 (449) (32) (47) (2) = (530)
At 31 March 2024 R-T-E
=A=f-H 8,136 1,540 905 59 254 10,894
CARRYING VALUES HREE
At 31 March 2024 R-T-ME
—A=t+—H - 37 21 207 7 272
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=%
=A=f+—-H - 4 2 2 9 345
ETRHEBRAR

TR NFEERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

16. BB KR (&)
BRI R R E ORI T (L 4T
B - BEDT

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term HEMEEE &7 & B
Plant and machinery 20% to 50% TR Kt 8% 20% % 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 25% R ETEEE 20% 2 25%
Motor vehicle 20% E 20%
Office equipment 20% N 20%
17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 17. FREEERHEAE
(i) Right-of-use assets i) ERAEEE
2024 2023
—ENME —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT T
Asat 1 April RIEA—H 1,631 1,374
Additions nNE - 1,703
Depreciation provided during the year FRNFTERE (841) (1.417)
Losses on lease modification MEETEE (76) -
Exchange realignment b H SR (17) (29)
As at 31 March R=A=+—~ 697 1631

The Group has lease arrangements for office buildings and
premises with the lease terms of generally ranged from 1 to 2
years.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
March 2023 amounted to approximately HK$1,703,000 due to
new leases of renting property.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

17. EAEEERBERE (H)

(Continued)
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEEE
2024 2023
—E-mF —EF-=

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET FAETT

Non-current IR - 811
Current Vi 724 790

724 1,601

Amounts payable under lease liabilities HEBEFEEBETHEMNKIE 2024 2023
—E-MF —T-=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FAT

Within one year —FR 724 790

After one year but within two years —FEERFAN - 811

724 1,601

Less: Amount due for settlement within o R 128 A R EIER
12 months (shown under HETHFRIE

current liabilities) FIRRBEEET) (724) (790)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 72 12 & A 18 B BA 45 1~ 19 F08 = 811

(iii)

(iv)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into
a lease agreement in respect of renting property and
recognised lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,703,000.

BHE-_Z-_=F=A=+—HItFE
AEBEGEEYER L — SR
WHERHE B 541,703,000/ 7T °

Amount recognised in profit or loss (iii) REBRPERANESE
2024 2023
—E-WE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 841 1417
Gain on lease modification HEEFT W (4) -
Interests on lease liabilities HEBGENT A 61 44
Income from waived of lease repayment  FA R EEF AU A - (435)
Expense relating to short-term leases BHERAEENRX 10 10

Others (iv) HAtt

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cash outflow
for lease amounts to HK$851,000 (2023: HK$1,125,000).

BHE-_Z-_NMFE=A=+—HILtFE
HEMRS AT A851,000%87T (=
T =4 :1,125000/87T) °

BFEHEERAT
ZEFERE
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. E\LEE
Development Trademark
cost costs Total
B 8% A AR A et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
Fi# T FHT
cosT B2
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RZE-_—_FMWA—H
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —E-=#=ZA=+—A8"
:2:*¢mﬂ H &
—E-WFE=A=+—H 61 10 71
AMORTISATION E
1 April 2022 R-ZE-—FmMA—H 49 8 57
Charge for the year FREZH 12 1 13
At31March2023and 1 April 2023 R-ZT-_=ZF=A=+—H
M_ZT_=FMA—H 61 9 70
Charge for the year FAZM - 1 1
At 31 March 2024 RZBE-_MF=A=+—H 61 10 71
CARRYING VALUES ARMEE
At 31 March 2024 RZTE_MFE=A=+—H - - -
At 31 March 2023 RZEBEZ=F=A=+—H - 1 1
The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible tEEAEARARTERAFH -FHAE
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated WEERBESEZNE M ERFRNEN -
useful lives as follows: FEAT
Development costs 5 years f 2% A AR 54
Trademark costs 10 years [EEEIPES 104
19. GOODWILL 19. BE
2024 2023
—E-mF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THETT
COST B
At 1 April R HA—H 4,139 4,139
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RtREBER
At 1 April and 31 March REA—BER=ZA=+—H 4,139 4,139
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March R=A=+—H - -
Goodwill is arising from the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum WEFENImEFRIEAEARE AT (BRI
Technology Information Co, Ltd.* CRITTEFEHLAEBRAR]) BEFDEANE HESREAEERK
("Shenzhen Quantum”) and has been allocated to the one CGU of s — (AR S EEBR

the Group, which is included in the services business.

* for identification purpose only

Quantum Thinking Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EZ R EMERRE

2024 2023

—E-mF —EC=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FEx T

Receivables at amortised cost comprise: Biegi ﬁ%}ﬁ$§+ K RN EIE B E ¢

Trade receivables =0y e e! 8,498 15,305
Less: loss allowance for trade receivables ek %Z%TEJ%Z RIE IR R E (1,212) (384)
7,286 14,921

Deposits Ee 2,545 3,732
Prepayments B IR 1,341 752
Other receivables (Note i) H fth FE U SR IE (K 2%) 1,711 1,686
12,883 21,091
Less: loss allowance for other receivables R B RE R IE R B R B (1,113) (986)
11,770 20,105

As at 31 March 2024, the gross amount of trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers amounted to approximately
HK$8,498,000 (2023: HK$15,305,000).

There was approximately impairment loss on trade receivables of
HKS$857,000 (2023: HKS$29,000) recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

The Group normally allows a credit period of not more than 120 days
to its customers, although an extension of the credit period is not
uncommon for customers who have a long term relationship with
the Group. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of this and the fact that the Group's
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

R-ZZE-_WNFEF=ZA=+—H BFALAM
EERE S EWFRIE B T4 5849800078
T(ZE=—=%#: 15,305,0005%7’5) °

HE-_ZE-_NWF=A=+—HLFE"
%FM%AIEH’JMEE%EW%857000,%%57c(_
T == 4F 1290008 T0) RirE B REM
2HWERPER -

ZIK%I—&‘?%%%T}ET\E%@DO%H’U%E
CBENEAKEAERYPBENETLM
:.LE&.,\,H;@IT;E o AL B KEAR
I%‘Jﬂiﬂﬁl@ﬁ’éﬂﬁlﬂlﬁ'ﬁﬁ%%&ﬁﬁE'Jm
Ml m s er - AR ik 1 EASEE
"’%J’EH& RIRE K E D AE P AR &
BEAREERRETRHIENR

;%E%’EEFE"\T
—E-EERE
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of loss
allowance for trade receivables, presented based on the invoice
date, which approximates revenue recognition date at the end of
each reporting period.

20. E5 R HMEWRGE (&)

UTRREREARREZ IR SR A
HIMBEE A2 E 5 EUKE0R (KM
B 5 RYGREREE) HRE O -

2024 2023

—ENE —ET=%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR FHET

Within 90 days 0HA 162 8,457
91 to 180 days 9THZE180H 107 9
181 to 365 days 181 HE365H 4,418 6,344
Over 365 days iBi@365 A 2,599 111
7,286 14,921

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. ES R HEWFIE (&)

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based on NEBEBIEIFERERE P R AR
the aging of customers collectively that are not individually REGERFBEBNZHEHREEBENT

significant as follows:

As at 31 March 2024 R-E-_WNE=A=+—H
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
InREE 15
AHEER=E IREAE BERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Not yet due i R 21 EA 1% 163 1
Past due over 60 days #HAEB B0 B 15% 8,335 1,211
8,498 1,212
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZZE-_=F=A=+—H
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
N3
TREBE X FRE A EiER
% HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHETT
Not yet due i#) A 21 HA 2% 3,324 54
Past due 1-60 days #HER1-60 H 2% 793 13
Past due over 60 days 1 HAER B 60 B 3% 11,188 317
15,305 384
The movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables is set out EoRWHIENBERESSHOT -
below:
2024 2023
“E-E —ZT=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT THT
At 1 April KU A—H 384 383
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FARERERNEEEE
during the year 857 29
Exchange alignment R (29) (28)
At 31 March R=A=+—H” 1,212 384
ETRERRAT

ZEFERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

20. E5 R HEAMWEWRRE (F)

GEE

0]

(i)

Included in the amount of other receivables as at 31 March 2024, approximately 0]
HK$1,099,000 (2023:HK$1,227,000) represented the amounts due from former

subsidiaries. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayment on

demand.

Details of other receivables are as follows:

R-T-_WE=A=+—8 st AHEmEKFE
WL EF - 41,099,000 T (T == :
1,227,000 7 7T ) 8 FE YR AT M /BB R A1 K718 - B R
BAEERRE RERAKERER-

H b EUCGRIRRRARLA T

2024 2023
—EBomEF —F-=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fax FAET
Amount due from former subsidiaries Gl PNCIE S 1,099 1227
Advances to staffs M8 T#R 273 52
Other tax refundables HAh B IER 5 87
Consideration receivables EWRAE 50 50
Others Hit 284 270
1,711 1,686

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables at an amount (i) AEEREFANREAEREEBENSEN

equal to 12-month ECL. The Group recognised 12-month ECL for other
receivables based on the internal credit rating of receivables as follows:

B E MR BGRIAR B R - A S EIREUGRIE
B A BB S B AT AR BE E b B MR IR BERR 1218 A TR
HEREBEENT

Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
A EER FREAE BERRE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_ME=A=+—H
Performing [0 20% 3,942 799
Doubtful Al &E 100% 314 314
4,256 1,113
Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
TR R IR = REAE R
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
As at 31 March 2023 AT _=ZF=A=+—H
Performing LS 17% 3,886 672
Doubtful Al & 100% 314 314
4,200 986

The movement in the loss allowance for other receivables is set out below:

H b RUHR R B IR B R E BT

2024 2023

—E-E —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FET

At 1 April MHUA—H 986 813
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year 4 18 35 71 52 10 &5 1R 5 158 398
Reallocated to asset held for sales (Note 27) BN REFHEHEEE (M3 27) - (21
Exchange alignment RS (31) @)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,113 986

There was approximately HK$158,000 (2023: HK$398,000) impairment loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

271. CONTRACT ASSETS

21. EEE

2024 2023
—T-omEF TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET TET
Unbilled revenue of system development ES ik oy D) 0P NG E S
contract 188 246

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to receive
consideration for work completed but not yet billed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance accepted
by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.

The Group classifies these contract assets under current assets
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating

BHEETZRAKENHD RERRAER
MIEE WM ENERNER RESEH
BRBURN A K EBER P RUIH RRRE
ERHBENRAEGNER ARNEERS
BERZRKFE -

AEERZEANEENBRRARDEE
FRARASERHNEEREBHAKE
MEEER -

cycle.
The movement in the loss allowance for contract assets is set out BHEEBEREEDHEIOT -
below:
2024 2023
—2-MmEF —EC-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
1 April REA—AR 6 6
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FARERBERNEERE
during the year 51 -
Exchange alignment ME 5, 58 B (6) -
At 31 March R=A=+—H 51 6

There was approximately HK$51,000 (2023: HKSNil) impairment loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2024.

BE-_ZT-_NF=A=+—HIEFE B
TR B E B 451 OOO/%TE(— =%

THETT) B fA,mATEm&EﬁﬁEEH&@%
==}

;%E%’EEFE"\T
—E-EERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

22,

23.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

22,

BRAFVEFABSENEMEE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Wealth management products by the bank R BIRRITIE I E M
in the PRC 52 8,210

The wealth management products by the bank in the PRC with
underlying financial instrument mainly consist of the short-term
bonds, money market investment fund and bank deposits of the
PRC.

The wealth management products carried floating interest rate at
1.75%-2.35% (2023: 1.88%-2.85%) per annum as at 31 March 2024.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$1,032,000 (2023: HK$2,333,000) which were
denominated in Renminbi. The remittance of these funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the
PRC government.

Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates which range from 0.3% to 0.35% (2023: 0.25% to 0.35%)
per annum.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24. EZ R HMENRER

2024 2023

—ENF —T-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

Trade payables B 5 eI A 7,441 13,877
Accruals ezt & 637 1,042
Other payables (note i) A R (D) 8,585 5,841
16,663 20,760

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

UTRRRERREEZAHEIINES
JEA SRIRH) AR iR DA -

2024 2023

—E-mF —T=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET TET

Within 90 days SN 154 8,923
91 to 180 days 9THZE180H 102 1
181 to 365 days 181 HZE 365 H 5,228 4,691
Over 365 days Bid365H 1,957 262
7,441 13,877

The average credit period granted by its suppliers ranging from 30 to
120 days. The Group has financial risk management in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

HERERTHFELSEEHN TF30Z12
B-AEEEEHRUKEREIE  UER

P B A SRR E S HIR A4

43
a/8 °

Note: ftsE :
(i) Details of other payables are as follows: (i) HEMEMRIEFBENT
2024 2023
—EoQmE —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHT
Advances from third parties RERE=HHBR 3,295 3,320
Payables for staff cost 8 TR AR RIE 89 354
Amounts due to a director (note a) B ESRFE (Wita) 3,000 -
Others HAith 2,201 2,167
8,585 5,841
(a) The amounts due to a director are unsecured, interest-free and (a) ENERHREAEET RENAR_Z-_AF

repayable in February 2025.

— A
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

25. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The financial liabilities represented the provision of the Profit

Guarantee contained in an investment agreement between
Shenzhen Quantum and the non-controlling shareholder of

Shenzhen Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd* (73

EHRAA)

m

FYNTHBLR
(“Cyber Security”):

In the event that the net profit attributable to the shareholders
of Cyber Security (after deducting non-recurring profit and
loss) for the year ended 31 December 2019, 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2021 is less than RMB800,000,
RMB40,000,000 and RMB85,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Net
Profit’), respectively, Shenzhen Quantum shall compensate
CITIC Technology Limited* (A {5 £9lF 2 ®]) ("CITIC
Technology") in accordance with the following formula:

Compensation amount = (Guaranteed Net Profit for the year
— actual net profit for the year)
x30% x 10

In the event that the average net profit attributable to the
shareholders of Cyber Security (after deducting non-recurring
profit and loss) for the three years ended 31 December 2021 is
less than RMB40,000,000, the aggregate net profit attributable
to the shareholders of Cyber Security (after deducting non-
recurring profit and loss) for the three years ended 31
December 2021 is less than RMB120,000,000, there is material
default, or serious illegal business has been undertaken by
Cyber Security, CITIC Technology may request Shenzhen
Quantum to acquire the equity interest in Cyber Security held
by CITIC Technology in accordance with the terms and
conditions of such investment agreement.

* for identification purpose only
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EHi]) EHEE(E -

BEeHE= (FERBLEHN -FE
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—AFEBLRERREGFEH LT
(BHRBRIELE MR F REE) ERA
R #40,000000 BHE=_ZT = —F
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

25. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 25. W AFEFTAEZEMNEHARS

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Details of the investment agreement have been set out in the
Company's announcement dated 12 October 2018.

Financial liabilities arising in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum and its subsidiary Cyber Security (collectively referred to as
“Shenzhen Quantum Group”) is unsecured, interest-free and not
repayable within twelve months. Balance of financial liabilities arising
in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum Group was
primarily earn-up of approximately HK$1,792,000 for the year ended
31 March 2019 (HK$11,762,000 as at acquisition date on 4 July 2018).
Earn-up will be realised if Cyber Security achieves certain profit
targets during the designated period of time. Details of earn-up
measurement are set out as above mentioned.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group measured fair
value of financial liabilities of profit guarantee in investment
arrangement based on the market outlook and their prevailing
business plans and projections. No change in fair value of financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss was recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2021. The fair value of financial liabilities
assessment is calculated based on discounted cash flows of future
payment with the estimated future profit of these acquired
businesses in Shenzhen Quantum and subject to ceiling level up to
net assets of Shenzhen Quantum Group.

On 2 March 2022, CITIC Technology requested Shenzhen Quantum
to acquire the equity interest in Cyber Security held by CITIC
Technology in accordance with the terms and conditions of such
investment agreement. No change in fair value of financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss was recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2023. The fair value of financial liabilities of
acquiring the equity interest in Cyber Security held by CITIC
Technology is calculated based on higher of (i) investment cost of
RMB30,000,000 with at fixed return rates at 4.75% per annum
(including bonus paid (after tax)) or (ii) fair value of 30% shares
holding in Cyber Security.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group
measured fair value of financial liabilities of acquiring the equity
interest in Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology and subject to
ceiling level up to net assets of Shenzhen Quantum Group. No
change in fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss was recognised during both years.

(%)
B GRS FEEHIN AR AR
T-NE+AT-AHRER:

RBBFYNETRENBRARBLRE
(ZRIFNEFEB) TELENSHARE
BERR 2B ROAR+TZRBARERE -
HEZZE—NWF=-A=+—81LFE
WERIETEEEENSREBBEEHE
ZAREFH1,7920008 T (RWEHBE-F
— N\FE+ APWEB A11,762,00078 7T) © fit 48
TRENETNRBEANETRE T EHME
ZoReHRNEZAEN - BAFENFE
N _E SR o

B - —F=ZA=+—HIFE" XK
SEREMSNSERITHERTERTE
A EREHRBEFOENNREFNSRE
BAFYE -#HZz—_T-_—F=A=+—H
iif’?ﬁ’&%&@ﬁ)\?ﬁﬁﬁﬂl\]imﬁﬁfﬁﬁ'ﬂ
REELEEH - SRHBENAFEDNR
BARNZOWARRERELZEFL R
=T UK S S5 TE FT A9 R 2R B M AE
i WHIEERNETFEBNEEFE -

NZE-—FZA—H  BERTERF
Y E FIRIEZIEE Bk 00 GG U iE
FERETBEENRLRBERE BE_Z
—ZHEZAZt+—HBIFE WERQAF
Bt \EaHNeRBENATEZD - Ik
BRERNBENRLZRERENTE A
BERAFEDNREBUTRSETE  ()I8E
R A R #530,000,000 7 Bl ERIRE A5
F475% (BIEEMNTELL (BFE)) ki) B%
RER0%IFREHAFE -

BE_Z_WNFEFR-Z_=F=A=+—
BIEFEE A&EBECDAERBRERME
BERRLZRBRENERABENRFE
WRFRINEFRENEEFERBIA
RZMEFE  SHEERRQFESAR
sNEMABEAFE-

;%E%’EEFE"\T
—E-EERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

26. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 26. HE—HENELQT
On 19 September 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase RZBEZ=FNA+TNHE  AEEHEKXE
agreement with an independent third party not connected with the EEEENBYF - R EEHE B
Group for the disposal of entire equity interest in Guangzhou YBDS EXRAFEEHREENNREB AR EMNBEEE
IT Co, Ltd* (B /M #E 115 ERHX B[R 2 A) (‘Guangzhou YBDS"), ERARAR ([EMEE]) 20
an indirectly owned subsidiary of the Company, at a cash HeREAARB 1 THEEMETL) °

consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to HKS1).

* for identification purpose only * ER 4l
HKS$'000
FHET
Consideration: RAE :
Other receivables H b e W I8 —*
HKS$'000
FET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control Xk EXER4IRNEEREFEIT :
was lost:
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b el e 581
Bank balances and cash RITEB LIRS 3
Trade and other payables B 5 M E AT SR8 (24,482)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEREEHE (23,898)
HKS$'000
FET
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— R E AR R E
Consideration receivable ERRE —*
Net liabilities disposed of BEREaEFE 23,898
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve upon WA & Z B B A G B
disposal of the subsidiary DB BERE (4612)
19,286
* The amount shown as zero is due to rounding less then HK$500 * SHELRS00EBT EOBRAATIRARE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EHZEZT_PNF=A=+—HIFE

26. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 26. HE—EKWBEQR (&)
HKS$'000
FAT
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESENESRE FE:
Cash consideration received BURERE =

Less: bank balances and cash disposed of

Guangzhou YBDS did not contribute significant revenue, profit and
cashflows to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

* The amount shown as zero is due to rounding less then HK$500

27. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has planned to
dispose the entire share capital of Guangzhou YBDS at consideration
of RMB1 (equivalent to HK$1), to an independent third party. The
following assets and liabilities were reclassified as held for sale in
relation to Guangzhou YBDS as at 31 March 2023.

B BHERNRITESREIRES

27.

R
«L e

BMNBERBEE_T _MF=A=+—H
HFEIARASAEEEMEA RS &
MBRERE -

* SELNS0ET  EOBRAATIRAET

HoBEABEHENEEHEBEN
EEREE
BHE_Z-_="F=A=+—HIEFE &
SEEZEUARB I TEER 1ET) RE
MBIE=ZHAHEERMBE2BIA - R
ZE-=F=A=+—H UTEEKE
BEFHEAREMNEBHIEHE -

HKS$'000
FAETT
Assets associated with assets classified HoBABELENEENRBNEE
as held for sale
Trade and other receivables B 5N H b rIGRIE 544
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB LIS 58
602
Liabilities associated with assets classified HoBABELENEENBNERS
as held for sale
Trade and other payables (note) B 5 KA e I8 (M aE) (25,629)
Note: B 5E -
Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2023, approximately of RITZ=F=A=+—ANEMENFKIEFR  HAR

RMB22,426,000 (equivalent to HK$25,603,000) represented the amount due to an
independent third party, Beijing Huagin World Technology Company Limited* ("Beijing
Huaqin’) 1t 5 % ) X 1t &L 5 A [R 2 & . The amount is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The disposal was completed on 19 September 2023. For details
on disposal of subsidiary, please refer to note 26.

* for identification purpose only

#5 22,426,000 7T (F8 % 12 25,603,00078 7C) A BN BILFE =
FAREGRIMBFER AR (T REH]) HFIE - %
SHEAREKR  RERAKREREERE - HEFENR=-Z
Z=FhA+NBRK - ERALEMHBRRMNFE &
S5 26 ©

* EXE ¥l

;%E%’EEFE"\T
—E-EERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=R GET e

/N

Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

28‘

29,

DEFERRED TAXATION

As at 31 March 2024, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the tax losses of approximately HK$206,620,000 (2023:
HK$229,885,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has tax losses of approximately
HK$99,371,000 (2023: HK$125,095,000) that will be expired within
next five years. The remaining tax losses of approximately
HK$107,249,000 (2023: HK$104,790,000) may be carried forward

28, IEAEFIE

RZZE_MFE=A=+—H BRELTHE
B R 28 M ORI E R A

206,620,00078 7T (=&
BT ERIEERIBEE ©

— =4 : 229,885,000

RZZB_WAF=A=+—H AEEHH

T8 [E5 18 #9 99,371,000 7T (

—E-=F:

125,095,000 7T) # R AR A F A DH - %
B9 B4 TE B 18 49 107,249,000 75 IT (_ ==

indefinitely. 1 104,790,000/ 70 ) A] £E PR BB 45
SHARE CAPITAL 29. IRA
Number of
shares Share capital
Ligvil 4= [N
000 HK$’000
i FET
Ordinary share of HK$0.10 each FRE®BRI0BIT
Authorised: JETE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RZTE__FWHA—H -
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —To=F=ZA=t—8"
:%::i@ﬁ SP52
—E-NE=A=+—H 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITREE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RZZE__FWA—H "
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —F-=F=A=t+—8"
:Z@::i MA—H &
—E-NFE=A=+—H 1,356,250 135,625
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

30.

31.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 30. BB AR5
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEABNHM
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members FARRAEFEREMEIEETERE A BRI
of key management personnel during the year was as follows: 2T
2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Short-term benefits EHIER 2,272 2,782
Post-employment benefits RIKAE A M 22
2,313 2,804
RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME 31. RIRERIFHE

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped
at HKS$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries in the
PRC are required to contribute to a state-managed retirement plan
for all its employees at a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its
employees. The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees. Under
the state-managed retirement plan, the Group has no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cost charged to
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of approximately HK$287,000 (2023: HK$550,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of
the respective accounting period.

REBRBEERSERESFEGL A
FFEGEAREARERLBESITE %
EHEMEERASENEESFAREE -
WAHETANESTE ASKBEZREBET
BRARSwMRESFTEIERE 84
FBRA&1,500%87C - BB KRR ITMER o

RBFPEERERNBAE  FTENEBAR
AREEEAFENETADLAMARE
BEHBRERRAKTEHFK - BREE
MERFEBEXNMARKE THZE
BREES - REBREENRRGE
AEBEFEHRFIAINERRAS R
RI&AEF )7 E I B HE — PR TS ©

HE-Z-_NF=ZA=+—HItFE 7
ReEBEmkEMEERERNG BN
#9/5287,00078 7T (ZZF = =4 : 550,000/ 7T)
EAREERE e REMNZETEN
B o

BFEHEERAT
ZEFERE
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32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 32. MEETBEEAENEEHIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from

TRANMAEEREEZHELNEEY
BREBESRFREEE - mﬁéﬁxﬁéﬁ%iﬁ’ﬂ
ﬁ ﬁEiﬁé—_&mLEjﬁ%Xﬁé//luiﬁ‘fﬁéﬂ‘%

financing activity, including both cash and non-cash change.
Liabilities arising from financing activity is those for which cash flows

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's EFEeRenErPIBRRELTHRS
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing MENBIE-
activity.

Lease liabilities

HEEE
HK$’000
FHET
(note 17)
(Mtz£17)
At 1 April 2023 RZE_=FWMA—H 1,601
Financing cash flows: BMERERE
— Repayment — BN (841)
Non-cash changes: RS FEH -
— New lease recognized — BERMEE =
— Income from waived of lease repayment — ReHEERNEA -
— Gain on lease modification — HEBFTWE (80)
— Interest on lease liabilities recognised —OERANHEBERNE 61
— Exchange realignment — [E R % (17)
At 31 March 2024 RZTE_MFE=A=+—H 724

Lease liabilities

HEAR
HK$'000
FHET
(note 17)
(BE&E17)
At 1 April 2022 RZEBE-Z—_FNHA—H 1,435
Financing cash flows: MERERE
— Repayment — &K (1,115)
Non-cash changes: RS FH -
— New lease recognized — BEERNHEE 1,703
— Income from waived of lease repayment (note 8) — R HEBFTHWA (HFE8) (435)
— Interest on lease liabilities recognised —EERNHEBERNE 44
— Exchange realignment —EH AR (31)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=Ff=A=+—H 1,601
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

33. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 33. AR BB BT TN E R

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—E_OF —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
Mo e F&ET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment TR = K 2R A 12 17
Investments in subsidiaries BRI Z®E @) = -
12 17
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5N H M EIFRIE (b) 565 587
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE Uk B B8 ) 3R 0E (© = -
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNIRS 851 770
1,416 1,357
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HEA R FRIE 633 602
Amounts due to a director B —Z%EENIE 3,000 -
3,633 602
Net current (liabilities)/assets FE(AE) EEFE (2,217) 755
Total assets less current liabilities @AEERABAE (2,205) 772
Equity s
Share capital & 7 135,625 135,625
Reserves i d (137,830) (134,853)
(Capital deficiency)/Total equity (EXREBH) 88 (2,205) 772
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Ching
TEE A {iE
Director Director
BE BE
BFEHEERAT

ZEFERE
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

33. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

33.

A B BN R E R ()

(Continued)
Notes: Bt 3
@ As at 31 March 2024, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost of HK$26 @) RZZ-ZWF=A=+—H8 KHER ﬂﬂ'ﬁﬁ;ﬁ
(2023: HK$26), no impairment loss in respect of investments in subsidiaries has TR A K 26 BT (ZEZ=F : 268 70) JIfR
been recognised in profit or loss for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. ﬂﬁEAMﬂ% Gl m}xﬁxfﬁm/ﬂﬁg?EIEFEk
T -MFR-T_=F=RA=+—HLHF
E K18 P HER o
(b) Included in the amounts of other receivables as at 31 March 2024, the gross (b) BER-ZZE-_NF=A=1+—BHE M EKRR
amount approximately HK$295,000 (2023: HK$295,000) represented the EEREP - E”&H' Bt /B8 22 R R IE #Y 48 8B 49 295,000
amounts due from former subsidiaries with accumulated loss allowance on BT (2T Z =4 : 2950004 7T)  H h f& W5k
other receivable of approximately HK$295,000 (2023: HK$295,000). The amount HRFERBEEHEN29508T (ZE=-=F:
is unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand. 29500078 7T) c e EAEEKT RS RARKRE
SKIEE -
There was approximately HK$22,000 (2023: HK$46,000) impairment loss on other Eﬁli ZHE=RA=1+—HIFE  RiEE
receivables recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other wm R E ﬁﬁ 2HEREZFE ﬁﬁ A EL A B IR BY
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2024. BB 47 22,000 87T (ZF = =4 : 4600078 7T) °
© Amounts due from subsidiaries © JE L BfT /8 & B SR IE
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W BT /B A R SR IE 98,925 98,486
Less: loss allowance B EERE (98,925) (98,486)
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and FEUSHT B A R RIE AR - £ 8 MAKRERE
repayable on demand. For the year ended 31 March 2024, impairment loss B o EjzjK:, T-NFE=A=+—HItFEE EK
approximately HK$439,000 (2023: reversal of impairment approximately B B 2 ) SR IEUR B 5 18 49 439,000/8 L (=2 ==
HK$609,000) on amounts due from subsidiaries were recognised in profit or loss. F ;\)E,UE}% [8] 47609,000 78 7T) BB P HERR ©
(d) Movements in reserves ) )
Share premium  Accumulated losses Total
R4 5E AitER et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2022 RZZEZZFWA—H 101,852 (234,473) (132,621)
Loss and total comprehensive expense A ET1E K H b
for the year FHERXZ - (2,232) (2,232)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 N = =F=A=
—E-=#PA—H 101,852 (236,705) (134,853)
Loss and total comprehensive expense A& 1E K H A
for the year ZHEMAXZ - (2,977) (2,977)
At 31 March 2024 WZE-_ME=A=+—H 101,852 (239,682) (137,830)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 34. ZREIHE A RRFE
COMPANY
Details of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 RZEZWNFR=_FT-_=F=-A=+—H
are as follows: RARMBARMFBEEHIMT
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid ordinary Percentage of
establishment/  Class of share capital/ equity interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation sharesheld  registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRTR2Y
HERAL/ fisRe BREE
WELARER Y/ 8% Bjl BA/ERER RRARERABERRARAI L IEEH
Direct Indirect
B i
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE -Z-ZE ZBCRE CZCZF
China Integrated Telecommunications The British Virgin -~ Ordinary Uss1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Group Co. Limited Islands ("BVI)
RS BREERRAR XEBRLHE IR E3 100% 100% - - REEBR
China 020 Business Group Co. Limited BvI Ordinary Uss1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
MEOOEEEEERAT iBRRES BB 1% 100% 100% - - REEBR
Bxcellent Master Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% - - Financing and administrative
expense for the Group
Excellent Master Investments Limited 36 el 1T 100% 100% - - FEEMBBROIBER
YBDS Multimedia Company Limited BVI Ordinary Uss1 100% 100% - - Online network systems
development
ERSRRARAT EBRLHE LB 1%7 100% 100% - - BIRAZGRE
Yunbo Digital Synergy Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
EBEXBRAA B 3 137 100% 100% - - RERR
Pacific Honour Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERARAA B B 187 - - 100% 100%  RABR
Guangzhou YBDS [T Co, Ltd.* (notesi, i) PRC Contributed RMB40,000,000 - - - 100%  Provision of system
capital development services,
consultation services and
hardware-related business
BMBEEEARRERAT (Matii)  hE HEER AR 400000007 - - - 00 REZRFERS
BRERBUR
BHEEEH
Able Bloom Technology Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BENRERAR &R i3 187 - - 100% 100%  REZR
Shenzhen Yunbo Information System PRC Contributed RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Service Company Limited * (note i) capital
MIEBELZARBARAR (W) HEER AR 50000007 - - 100% 100 REZR
Shenzhen YBDSIT Co, Ltd* (note i) PRC Contributed RMB20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of system
capital development services and
consultation services
MImEREEHRARAR Gl HEER AR 200000007 - - 100% 100% REZGHERER
(RizEi) ERR%
ETRERRAT

ZEFERE
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—T_NF=A=+—HIFE

34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

34. XRFIMBEARNFE (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid ordinary Percentage of
establishment/  Class of share capital/ equity interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation sharesheld  registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRIR2Y
HRAL/ fiske BREE
WEARER Y/ 8% Bjl RA/ERER RRARERABERRARAD L E3:3 4
Direct Indirect
E#
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE -B--E ZBCRE CZCZF
Shenzhen Anxin Certification System Co, Ltd* ~ PRC Contributed RMB50,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
('Shenzhen Anxin') (note i capital
MITZEREZRERAA Gl HEER ARH 500000007 - - 100% 100%  RERR
(TR &) ()
Shenzhen Quantum Technology Information ~ PRC Contributed RMB10,770,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co, Ltd* (note ) capital
MIPEFRERSARAR (L) P& HEER AR 10770007 - - 100% 100 REZR
Shenzhen Cyber Security Authentication PRC Contributed RMB14,290,000 - - 70% 70%  Technical development and
Co, Ltd. ('Cyber Securlty " (note ) capital software development
MITRZAEER AT hE HEER AR 142900000 - - 70% 0% HNFEREERE
((@Zz3E) (WE\)
Internal and External Double Circular Economy ~ PRC Contributed RMB20,000,000 - - 70% 70% - Technical development and
Technology (Suzhou) Co, Ltd. * (note i) capital software development
RINE BIRETER (B M) HE TEER AR 200000007 - - 70% % BWFEREERE
BRAR (M)
Befjing Hongchang Yayun Technology Co, Ltd*  PRC Contributed RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Technical development,
(note i) capital software development and
short messaging service fee
frilERENRERAF () Gl HEER AR 100000007 - - 100% 0% HWRE BHFEER
BERHIE
Shenzhen Xinyoutong Technology Co, Ltd*  PRC Contributed RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Short messaging service fee
(note i) capital
AITEERNRERDR (M) HE HEER AR 100000007 - - 100% 00 EREREBNE
*  For identification purpose only
Notes: BMisE
[0 The nature of all the legal entities established in PRC is limited liability company. 0) REBEK OB EERERENEEREREM

(i) The subsidiary was disposed of on 19 September 2023.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities outstanding
at the end of both years or at any time during both years.

Details of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that are

material to the Group:

34. XRFIMBEARNFE (&)

MENBRRNMEFEFRLFRET
TR BEIN B ES

A SR B T B A R M5
B8 2 S

Proportion of
ownership interest and Profit/(loss) allocated
Place of voting rights held by to non-controlling Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries incorporation non-controlling interest interests non-controlling interests
FERBERENETEEER TREFERERN
WEARAR A AR 3L 3 2 REELH) w5/ (B8) Rt FERES
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
“E-mE -E-ZF  CZB-WME -—E-=F  CZB-mNE  -—E-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TET TERT TER
Cyber Security PRC 30% 30% (794) (913) (6,427) (6,352)
B m
Internal and External Double Circular PRC 30% 30% 88 (5819) (7,178) (7,267)
Economy Technology (Suzhou)
Co, Ltd*
MAVEBRICER R (B M) HE
BRAE

The summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's subsidiary or group of subsidiaries that has material non-
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial

information below represents amounts before intragroup

eliminations.

AEBEHRAEAFEREDOMB QAR
MEBARSENMBENBEEHIWT -
TXHHBERNRBZ SN EEA R EFEA
HIE R °

Cyber Security WL RFE
2024 2023
—E_NF —EBE-=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FExT FAT
Current assets RBEE 1,912 2,969
Non-current assets EREEE 24,217 24457
Current liabilities mENEE (47,554) (48,377)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - (223)
Net liabilities BEFHE (21,425) (21,174)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KA & #E A A FE(R R (14,998) (14,822)
Non-controlling interests FEERR A (6,427) (6,352)
*  For identification purpose only
BFEHEERAT

ZEFERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR
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34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

34. XRFIMBEARNFE (&)

Cyber Security (Continued) Mz RE (E)
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Revenue e - 1,047
Other income H g A 141 693
Expenses M (2,786) (4,781)
Loss for the year FNEE (2,645) (3,041)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company A &1#EA AE(LE B (1,851) (2,129
Loss attributable to the non-controlling JEVE RS M = B e 1A
interests (794) (912)
Loss for the year FANBE (2,645) (3,041)
Other comprehensive income attributable to N2 Bl #EA A EIG H ML 2
owners of the Company & 1,675 2,370
Other comprehensive income attributable to ~ FEIERE RS FE(E E b 2
the non-controlling interests Wz 718 1,015
Other comprehensive income for the year FAHMEE R 2,393 3,385
Total comprehensive (expense)/income KARIEEAEGEEREA
attributable to owners of the Company (AX), Mz sE (176) 241
Total comprehensive (expense)/income EEREREGEE
attributable to the non-controlling interests (%), Wata%E (76) 103
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FR2E X)) WaesE
for the year (252) 344
Net cash outflow from operating activities KRB IR S F R (82) (1,987)
Net cash inflow from investing activities KREFINBESRAFE (40) 1,575
Net cash outflow from financing activities A EEB IR 2R R R (216) (175)
Net cash outflow RE ML FEE (338) (587)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE—Z_PNF=A=+—HILFE

34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Internal and External Double Circular Economy

34. X F)ME AT WFFE (&)
NI BREREBENE (M BRA

Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.* A
2024 2023
—E-E o
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHEIT
Current assets mEEE 122 128
Current liabilities mE B & - (305)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/ (8B %8 122 (177)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7K A & B A JE(L 2 7,300 7,090
Non-controlling interests FEfE R A (7,178) (7,267)
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT T
Revenue Wz = 310
Other income HaA 732 56
Expenses 2 (439) (19,763)
Profit/(loss) for the year FAREF(E518) 293 (19,397)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of KRR ANERRET, (EE)
the Company 205 (13,578)
Profit/(loss) attributable to the FEPE R R AL = T (&)
non-controlling interests 88 (5,819)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRBEFR, (EE) 293 (19397)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) RARHEBEANEGEEMEE
attributable to owners of the Company sk (F) 4 (1,043)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) SRR E R e H A 2
attributable to the non-controlling interests ek (BA) 2 (447)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FAHMEEKE (%)
for the year 6 (1,490)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) RARIHEEANEIGERE
attributable to owners of the Company Uz, (FX) s 58 210 (14,621)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) R EREE 2R
attributable to the non-controlling interests e (B) 4258 90 (6,266)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FRE2ERES (X)) 858
for the year 300 (20,887)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating KEFEFHMESTA () F58
activities 49 (2,929)
Net cash outflow from investing activities KREREFRS ML FE (46) (259)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BemrACRL) FE 3 (3,188)
* For identification purpose only
ETRHEBRAR

ZEFERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZEZ—Z_NE=A=+—HILFE

35. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 35. HAEMBRE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by PHBmELETFeRN T _MNF A
the board of directors on 21 June 2024. T+ — BRI -
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